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PART  I.  
 
BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Business 
 
Macay Holdings, Inc. (“the Company” or "Macay") is a company incorporated in the Philippines and registered 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on October 16, 1930. Its common shares of stocks are 
listed with the Philippine Stock Exchange ("PSE") under the ticker symbol "MACAY". The Company currently 
operates as the listed investment holding entity for Mr. Alfredo Yao and family's ("the Yao family") carbonated 
beverage businesses. Its wholly-owned subsidiaries ("the Subsidiaries") include ARC Refreshments Corporation 
("ARC") and ARC Holdings, Inc. ("ARCHI"). Macay and its Subsidiaries are collectively referred to in this official 
document as "Macay Group" or "the Group". 
 
Formerly known as Maybank ATR Kim Eng Financial Corporation ("MAKEFC") with a trading symbol of "MAKE", 
Macay used to operate as a holding company with interests in investment banking, financial advisory, life 
insurance, real property development and securities. However, Macay evolved as it underwent a series of 
corporate changes and transactions: 
 

 September 2013 - Mazy's Capital, Inc. ("MCI"), a Philippine company owned by Zest-O Corporation  
and Mega Asia Bottling Corporation ("Mega Asia"), executed a share purchase 
agreement with Maybank Kim Eng Holdings Limited stipulating that the latter 
divest its entire shareholding in MAKEFC. 

 

 October 2013 -     MCI acquired 89.76% interest in MAKEFC for Php 3.19 billion. MAKEFC, on the other 
hand, sold its entire equity stakes in AsianLife and General Assurance Corporation 
and ATR KE Land to Maybank ATR KE Capital. After the transaction, MAKEFC 
primarily retained cash and receivables in its asset portfolio. 

 

 November 2013 -  MAKEFC's Board of Directors ("BOD") approved the Company's investment in a food 
and beverage company. 

 

 December 2013 -  The BOD approved the change in trading symbol from "MAKE" to "Macay"; while the 
shareholders approved the change in corporate name from "Maybank ATR Kim Eng 
Financial Corporation" to "Macay Holdings, Inc.". 

 
                               -    ARC was formally incorporated. 

 

 January 2014 -     The SEC approved the change in the Company's corporate name. 
 
                               -  ARC executed an asset purchase agreement with Mega Asia and Asiawide 

Refreshments Corporation ("Asiawide"). ARC acquired substantially all of the 
assets (e.g. machinery, equipment and bottles) of Mega Asia and Asiawide used in 
their manufacturing, bottling and distribution operations for Php 1.57 billion. 

 

 August 2015 -  Macay acquired 100% ownership of ARCHI, which has the Concentrate Supply 
Agreement ("CSA") and the Trademark Licensing Agreement ("TLA") with Royal 
Crown Cola International ("RCCI"). 

 
The foregoing exercises effectively consolidated under Macay the softdrinks operations and substantially all of 
the operating resources previously under Mega Asia and Asiawide; and the CSA and TLA that ARCHI currently 
holds. As of December 31, 2016, the Macay Group exhibits the following ownership structure: 
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Within the Group, Macay serves as the investment holding company while the Subsidiaries handle the day-to-
day operations of the business. Given this, the reader may refer to the separate discussions under ARC and 
ARCHI for the required disclosures on products, services, markets, distribution methods, industry, 
competitors, raw materials, customers, research and development, regulatory approvals and intangible assets 
like trademarks, patents and licenses. 
 
 
Transaction with Related Parties 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly, or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions; and 
the parties are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals 
or corporate entities. Transactions with related parties are made on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Related party transactions are discussed in detail in Note 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Macay Group.  
 
 
Employees 
As of December 31, 2016, Macay Group had a total of 1,170 full-time or regular employees (excluding 
contractual and temporary employees). 
 
Macay Group’s management believes that labor relations are generally healthy at Macay and at its 
Subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2016, Macay had four full-time employees none of whom are members of any 
union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA"). Macay expects to maintain its current number 
of employees in the next 12 months, unless the management deems it necessary to augment its headcount for 
legal, compliance, finance, investor relations, business development and internal audit divisions. Refer to the 
separate discussions on the Subsidiaries' employees under the sections "ARC Refreshments Corporation" and 
"ARC Holdings, Inc.". 
 
 
Risk Management  
The BOD, through the Audit Committee, exercises overall oversight function over the Management’s activities 
involving the identification, assessment and management of the Group's risks. This function includes regular 
receipt from the Management of information on risk exposures and risk management activities. 
 
The Group's financial risks are as follows: 
 
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. To manage such risk, the Group monitors its receivables on an ongoing 
basis. The objective is to reduce the risk of loss through default of counterparties. 
 
Liquidity Risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Group manages this type of risk by ensuring that sufficient cash is maintained to cover daily 
operational and working capital requirements; and monitoring its future and contingent obligations and setting 
up required cash reserves as necessary in accordance with internal policies. 
 
Foreign Exchange Risk. Foreign exchange risk refers to the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Group manages this risk by closely monitoring its cash flow position and by 
providing forecast on its exposures in non-peso currency (especially the US Dollar). 
 
The financial risks discussed above are presented in detail in Note 22 in the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Group. 
 
ARC Refreshments Corporation 
 
ARC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on December 4, 2013 and is currently one of the major 
bottlers and manufacturers of carbonated soft drinks in the Philippines. The Yao family used to operate its soft 
drinks business through Asiawide, which was established in 2002 to bottle, market and distribute RC Cola in 
the Philippines; and Mega Asia, which was established in 2007 to undertake bottling operations for Asiawide 
pursuant to a tolling arrangement. However, on January 31, 2014, ARC executed an asset purchase agreement 
covering the operating assets of Mega Asia and Asiawide except for land, building and certain bottling 
equipment. This transaction centralized the carbonated beverage business of the Yao family under ARC. 
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Principal Products and Services 
ARC derives revenues from the sale of its soft drink products and from its toll manufacturing activities. As of 
December 31, 2016, ARC manufactures, bottles, markets and distributes the following soft drink products: 
 

Brand Description Ownership Packaging 

    
Cola Flavor    
 RC Cola Cola-flavored carbonated soft 

drink 
Licensed from 
RCCI 

240 mL RGB* 
800 mL RGB 
1.5 L PET** 
500 mL PET 
250 mL Can 
 

 RC Cola Free Zero-calorie, cola-flavored 
carbonated soft drink 

Licensed from 
RCCI 

1.5 L PET 
500 mL PET 
250 mL Can 
 

     
Non-Cola Flavor    
 Fruit Soda Orange Orange-flavored carbonated soft 

drink 
Developed  
In-House  

240 mL RGB 
800 mL RGB 
500 mL PET 
1.5 L PET 
250 mL Can 
 

 Juicy Lemon Cloudy lemon-flavored 
carbonated soft drink 

Developed  
In-House 

240 mL RGB 
800 mL RGB 
500 mL PET 
1.5 L PET 
250 mL Can 
 

 Arcy's Rootbeer Rootbeer-flavored carbonated 
soft drink 

Developed  
In-House 

240 mL RGB 
500 mL PET 
1.5 L PET 
250 mL Can 
 

 Seetrus Lemon-lime flavored carbonated 
soft drink 

Developed  
In-House 

240 mL RGB 
250 mL Can 
500 mL PET 
1.5 L PET 

     
 Rite-‘N-Lite Zero-calorie carbonated soft 

drink in Lemon, Lemon Lime, 
Root Beer and Orange flavors 

Developed  
In-House 

250 mL Can 

     

     
* RGB = Returnable Glass Bottle 
** PET = Polyethylene Terephthalate  

 
For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, the cola-flavor brands contributed more than half of 
ARC's total net sales. In terms of packaging, the RGB format accounts for a great majority of ARC's sales 
volume.   
 
On the other hand, ARC is also engaged in toll manufacturing, currently bottling "Extra Joss" for Asiawide Kalbe 
Philippines, Inc. ("Asiawide Kalbe").  As of December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, toll manufacturing activities 
contributed less than 1% of ARC's net sales. 
 
 
Distribution Methods and Target Markets 
ARC employs a multi-channel distribution system in selling its products to its target consumers, who primarily 
belong to the middle- and low-income categories. ARC distributes its products either directly or indirectly to 
various retail points nationwide, which provide direct access to our target segments. These retail points 
include both traditional trade channel which covers sari-sari stores and carinderias; and modern retail channel 
which covers supermarkets, hypermarkets, groceries, convenience stores and food service outlets. As of 
December 31, 2016, ARC products were predominantly sold or consumed through the traditional trade channel. 
 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Polyethylene_terephthalate
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To service both retail channels, ARC employs its network of company trucks, master dealers, sub-dealers and 
third-party distributors. 
 
 
Competition 
The carbonated soft drinks industry in the Philippines is highly competitive and continues to evolve in response 
to changing consumer preferences. Competition is generally based upon brand recognition, taste, quality, 
price, availability, selection and convenience. For all carbonated soft drinks in the local market, ARC 
competes with dominant multinational corporations with significant financial resources such as Coca Cola and 
Pepsi. 
 
 
Raw Materials 
The principal raw materials that ARC uses in its business are concentrate, sweeteners, and packaging materials 
such as glass bottles, PET bottles and caps, and aluminium cans and ends. It also uses water, carbon dioxide 
and electricity. ARC purchases cola concentrates from ARCHI, which in turn acquires the same from RCCI under 
the CSA. For the other major raw materials, ARC maintains at least three suppliers.  
 
 
Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights, Licenses, Franchises, Concessions, and Royalty Agreements Held  
ARC has maintained its relationship with RCCI, the owner of the RC Cola brand outside North America and 
Mexico, and a division of Cott Beverages, Inc. RC Cola is one of the original American colas with a history 
spanning 110 years. It was created in the United States in 1905, and the brand has enjoyed a long track record 
of success both within the United States and globally. The Yao family's relationship with RCCI started in 2003 
and was formalized in 2005 when RCCI and ARCHI executed the CSA and the TLA (For a description and status 
of these agreements, refer to section "ARC Holdings, Inc.").  

Moreover, ARCHI executed a Bottler's Agreement ("BA") with Asiawide under which Asiawide was authorized to 
produce, sell and distribute RC Cola products in the Philippines and to purchase concentrates from ARCHI. 
Under the BA, Asiawide was permitted to use the RC Cola trademarks consistent with ARCHI's TLA with RCCI. In 
the reorganization made in 2014, ARC acquired Asiawide's rights and obligations under the BA. 

ARC also owns a variety of intellectual property rights for its in-house brands which it has developed over the 
years.   

 
Employees 
As of December 31, 2016, ARC had a total of 1,166 full-time or regular employees, broken down as follows: 
 

Department / Function Number 

Office of the President/ EVP 10 

Finance 235 

Human Resource 52 

Marketing 22 

Logistics 160 

Manufacturing 314 

Central Laboratory / Concentrate Plant 30 

Sales 343 

Total 1,166 

 
We have several casual employees working in our business at any time, mostly as manual laborers. We contract 
with third-party manpower and services firms for the supply of this labor. The number of casual employees we 
require varies seasonally. 
 
Approximately 191 rank-and-file employees of ARC are represented by a union, which is covered by a CBA. The 
CBA contains economic and non-economic provisions, which has a term of three years, while the 
representation aspect is valid for five years. Employees of all our other plants, as well as our head office, do 
not belong to a union. We believe that our relations with both our unionized and non-unionized employees are 
good.  
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ARC Holdings, Inc. 
 
ARCHI was formally organized in December 29, 2005 by the Yao family to serve as an investment holding 
entity. Its key corporate milestones are as follows: 
 

 In 2005, ARCHI executed a CSA and a TLA with RCCI.  Under the CSA, ARCHI is authorized to purchase 
concentrates from RCCI to produce RC Cola and its beverage variants for sale and distribution within 
the Philippines. Under the agreement, ARCHI was required to build and maintain a reasonable volume 
of patronage for RC Cola within five years, failing to do so would entitle RCCI to terminate the 
agreement. ARCHI complied with these requirements.  
 
Under the TLA, which is co-terminus with the CSA, ARCHI is given the right to use RCCI’s trademarks 
in connection with the sale and distribution of its beverage products within the Philippines.  
 
On the other hand, ARCHI also executed a BA with Asiawide. (Refer to previous discussions under 
"ARC Refreshments Corporation") 
 

 In 2011, ARCHI entered into an agreement with Kalbe International Pte. Ltd ("Kalbe International"), to 
establish a joint venture ("JV") entity to implement a project to (a) market and sell energy drink in 
ready-to-drink form bearing the "extra joss" mark ("the product"); (b) appoint a toll manufacturer to 
produce the product; and (c) appoint a distributor to distribute the product, all within the 
Philippines. 
 
The JV entity was incorporated as Asiawide Kalbe, which is fifty percent (50%) owned by ARCHI and 
fifty percent (50%) owned by Kalbe International.  Both companies will share equal control and 
management over the operations of the incorporated JV entity.  
 

 In August 2015, Macay acquired 100% ownership of ARCHI for Php 17.0 million. 
 

ARCHI primarily derives revenues from management fees charged to ARC. It also recognizes its share in the net 
income of the JV entity Asiawide Kalbe.   
  
 
Item 2.  Properties 
 
As of December 31, 2016, Macay leased its head office space located at 137 Yakal Street, San Antonio Village, 
Makati City from an affiliate. MHI has no immediate plans to acquire properties. Descriptions of the properties 
of each of Macay Holdings' subsidiaries are as follows: 
 
ARC 
As of December 31, 2016, ARC leased its head office space located at 84 Solmac Building, Banawe corner 
Dapitan Streets, Quezon City from an affiliate. ARC also operates 9 production facilities located in different 
areas across the country, namely, Quezon City, Isabela, Pangasinan, Pampanga, Rizal, Laguna, Cebu, Misamis 
Oriental and Davao. ARC leases all the land on which the plants are situated from affiliates and a third party. 
On the other hand, ARC owns the bottling equipment in 7 of these plants and leases those of the remaining 2 
plants from an affiliate. 
 
ARCHI 
As of December 31, 2016, ARCHI leases its head office space located at 84 Solmac Building, Banawe corner 
Dapitan Streets, Quezon City from an affiliate. ARCHI has no immediate plans to acquire properties. 
 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
For Macay and its subsidiaries, there are no material pending legal proceedings, bankruptcy petitions, 
convictions by final judgment, orders, judgments or decrees, or violations of a securities or commodities law 
to which Macay or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or its directors or executive officers is a party or of which 
any of its material properties are subject in any court or administrative government agency. 
 
 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
There were no matters submitted during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year to the vote of security holders, 
through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise. The Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of Macay was held on 
May 18, 2016, and the results thereof were submitted to the SEC in the corresponding SEC Form 17-C and 
disclosed through the PSE. 
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PART  II. 
  
 
OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
 
Item 5.  Market for Issuer’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
 
Market Information 
 
Macay’s common shares are listed and traded in the PSE.  The high and low sales prices of Macay’s shares 

traded in the PSE for each quarterly period during the past three (3) years were as follows: 

 

YEAR 1st  QUARTER 2ND QUARTER 3RD QUARTER 4TH QUARTER 

 HIGH LOW HIGH LOW HIGH LOW HIGH LOW 

2016 41.25 33.05 49.00 32.00 38.00 26.05 27.90 25.00 

2015 74.00 44.10 61.00 45.00 59.00 44.20 47.00 35.00 

2014 26.50 20.30 40.30 26.00 44.90 37.55 49.00 43.90 

 

As of December 31, 2016, the closing price of Macay’s shares of stock was Php 26.95 per share. 
 
 
Holders 
 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company had 388 stockholders of record. 
 
 
Directors and Officers of Macay Holdings, Inc.   
 

 
 

Name 

 
 

Nationality 

 
 

No. of Common 
Shares  

 
 

Percentage of 
Ownership  

ALFREDO M. YAO Filipino 1 0% 

ARMANDO M. YAO Filipino 1 0% 

JEFFREY S. YAO Filipino 1 0% 

CAROLYN S. YAO Filipino 1 0% 

MARY GRACE S. YAO Filipino 1 0% 

ROBERTO A. ATENDIDO Filipino 1 0% 

FERNANDO R. BALATBAT Filipino 1 0% 

ANTONIO I. PANAJON Filipino 1 0% 

ALBERT S. TORIBIO Filipino 1 0% 

JESUS G. GALLEGOS, JR. Filipino 1 0% 

ROBERTO F. ANONAS. JR. Filipino 1 0% 

GERARDO T. GARCIA Filipino 1 0% 

RINALDI C. AVES Filipino 1 0% 

GABRIEL A. DEE Filipino 0 0% 
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Top 20 Stockholders of Macay Holdings, Inc. 
 

NAME NATIONALITY NO. OF COMMON 
SHARES SUBSCRIBED 

PERCENTAGE OF 
OWNERSHIP 

MAZY’S CAPITAL, INC. FILIPINO 958,941,660 89.76% 
PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION - NON FILIPINO FOREIGN 100,194,751 09.38% 
PCD NOMINEE CORPORATION – FILIPINO FILIPINO 6,657,104 00.62% 
GONZALO PUYAT & SONS, INC. FILIPINO 942,095 00.09% 
HANSON G. SO &/OR LARCY MARICHI Y. SO FILIPINO 216,000 00.02% 
KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS – NEW HAVEN CONN AMERICAN 62,916 00.01% 
JOSEFA M. BENITEZ TRINIDAD FILIPINO 62,427 00.01% 
LUCIANO TAN FILIPINO 57,879 00.01%  
SAGITRO INCORPORATED FILIPINO 52,018 00.00% 
SUSANA LEE CHUNG FILIPINO 42,994 00.00% 
RAMON NISCE FILIPINO 42,814 00.00% 
NELLY V. KATIGBAK FILIPINO 39,560 00.00% 
SIM CHI TAT &/OR CONCHING TAN SIM FILIPINO 38,097 00.00% 
TEOFILO S. VILLONCO FILIPINO 32,967 00.00% 
VICENTE VILLONCO FILIPINO 32,963 00.00% 
PIERCE INTERLINK SECURITIES, INC. FILIPINO 32,400 00.00% 
ENRIQUE RAMIREZ FILIPINO 32,193 00.00% 
VIOLETA R. BARLAAN FILIPINO 31,732 00.00% 
SIM CHI TAT FILIPINO 30,263 00.00% 
JOSE P. LEVISTE, JR. FILIPINO 30,240 00.00% 

 
Note: Based on the list of top 100 stockholders of Macay as of 31 December 2016 as reported by Stock 
Transfer Service, Inc.  

 
 
Dividends 
 
On April 8, 2016, Macay’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the declaration of stock dividends 
equivalent to 21% of issued and outstanding common shares, payable in common stocks to stockholders as of 
record date to be determined by the SEC upon the approval of the increase in authorized capital stock, 
subject to the approval of the SEC.  These shares shall be listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange.  The Macay 
Board concurrently approved the declaration of cash dividend of Php0.12 per share for an aggregate amount of 
Php128.21 million.  The cash dividend was paid on May 20, 2016.  The previous year, Macay declared a cash 
dividend of Php1.45 per share totaling Php1,549.17 million.  
 
 
Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities 
Not applicable. 
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Item 6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 

Presentation of Financial Information  

 
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.  The Consolidated 
Financial Statements are presented in Philippine peso (Php), which is the functional currency of the Macay 
Group. 
 
Acquisition of Operating Assets of Asiawide and Mega Asia 
 
On January 31, 2014, ARC completed the acquisition of the operating assets of Asiawide and Mega Asia through 
a cash transaction. For accounting purposes, the transaction was accounted for similar to a reverse acquisition 
following Philippine Financial Reporting Standard (PFRS) 3, Business Combination.  Asiawide was deemed to be 
the accounting acquirer under the principles of PFRS 3.  In a reverse acquisition, the legal acquirer is 
identified as the acquiree for accounting purposes because based on the substance of the transaction, the 
legal acquiree is adjudged to be the entity that gained control over the legal acquirer. Accordingly, the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared as a continuation of the consolidated 
financial statements of Asiawide and Mega Asia.   
 
The comparative December 31, 2013 information presented in the consolidated financial statements are those 
of Asiawide and Mega Asia and not those originally presented in the previous 2013 consolidated financial 
statements of Macay (accounting acquiree) with its old businesses (i.e. MAKEFC). 
 
Acquisition of ARCHI 
 
On August13, 2015, the Macay purchased all of the issued shares of ARCHI totaling to 1.70 million shares.  For 
accounting purposes, since ARCHI is an entity under common control since its inception, the financial 
information in the Consolidated Financial Statements is presented as though the combination of entities under 
common control occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative period.  Therefore, the consolidation 
reflected the financial information of ARCHI starting January 1, 2013, restating the 2013 comparatives 
presented in the consolidation statements for 2015. 
 
The accounting similar to a reverse acquisition applies only to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  The 
Parent Company financial statements will continue to represent Macay as a stand-alone entity.  
 
For additional details on the basis of Macay Group's financial reporting, refer to Note 2 of the Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 

CALENDAR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

For the years ending  
December 31, 

 2016 2015 

% change  (In Php millions) 

Revenues 11,378.3 11,262.9 1.0 
Cost of sales and services 7,427.8 7,285.0 2.0 
Gross profit 3,950.5 3,977.9 -0.7 
Selling and marketing expenses 1,130.3 1,082.7 4.4 
General and administrative expenses 329.4 350.2 -5.9 
Other income (charges) 43.3 44.3 -2.3 
Income before income tax 2,534.1 2,589.3 -2.1 
Provision for income tax 715.6 780.1 -8.3 
Net Income 1,818.6 1,809.2 0.5 

 
The Group posted consolidated net revenue of Php11.38 billion for the current year which is 1.0% higher versus 
2015.  
 
Cost of Goods Sold, which consists mainly of raw and packaging materials, direct labor and manufacturing 
overhead, increased by Php142.74 million.  This is a 2.0% increase compared to Philippine’s average inflation 
rate of 1.8%.    
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This resulted in, the Group’s gross profit slightly dropping from Php3.98 billion to Php3.95 billion for the year, 
a decrease of less than 1% from last year.  As a percentage to net sales, gross profit is stable at 35%. 
  
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses increased by Php47.65 million which is 4.4% higher versus last 
year attributable to personnel-related expenses, higher impairment losses, and higher depreciation of vehicles 
due to full year effect of prior year acquisitions which is mitigated by the rationalization of advertising 
expenses during the year and the significant drop of oil prices. 
  
General and administrative expenses decreased by Php20.81 million or 5.9% for 2016 versus 2015 primarily due 
to lower professional fees relative to special financial audit engagements last year.   
 
Total operating expenses maintained the same proportion to net revenue as last year at 12.8%. 
 
Other income of Php43 million is almost at the same level of last year. 
 
Provision for income tax decreased by 8.3% for 2016 compared to 2015 due to slightly lower operating income 
of the Group in the current year and application of NOLCO of parent company arising from prior year 
operations. 
 
Overall, the Group delivered Php1.82 billion net income which is Php9M higher versus last year. 
 

 

FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

For the period ending  
December 31, 

 2016 2015 

% change  (In Php millions) 

Current Assets 4,456.8 3,398.1 31.2 
Non-Current Assets 3,934.6 4,007.8 -1.8 
Total Assets 8,391.4 7,405.9 13.3 
    
Current Liabilities 2,575.5 3,267.5 -21.2 
Non-Current Liabilities 2.1 93.3 -97.7 
Total Liabilities 2,577.5 3,360.8 -23.3 
Total Equity 5,813.9 4,045.1 43.7 

 

Sound policy on credit control and working capital management has enabled the Group to maintain a solid 
financial condition.  Cash from operations were used to fund capital expenditures. 
 
The Group’s total assets increased by 13.3% from Php7.41 billion in December 2015 to Php8.39 billion in 
December 2016 mainly due to increases in cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, inventories, 
prepayments, and property, plant and equipment.  Meanwhile, there were decreases in deferred pallets and 
containers, deferred tax assets and deposits with suppliers. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents increased from Php1.05 billion to Php1.88 billion as a result of the net cash 
generated from operations of Php2.44 billion reduced by the net investment outflow of Php1.03 million and 
net financing outflow of Php 576.58 million.  
 
Total trade and other receivables increased by Php44.74 million or 12.1% mainly due to accounts under Modern 
Trade. 
 
Inventories are higher by Php138.55 million or 7.2% versus 2015 mainly due to increase in the purchases of 
containers and pallets. 
 
Other current assets increased by Php45.15 million due to additional creditable withholding taxes arising from 
management fee charges within the Group of which a portion is withheld and remitted to BIR. 
 
Property, plant and equipment increased by Php196.84 million or 16.7% due to capital expenditures on 
machineries and equipment, land acquisition and on-going plant construction.  
 
Deferred containers decreased from Php2.03 billion to Php1.91 billion or 5.7% as the amortization cost 
exceeded current year additions. 
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Other non-current assets decreased from Php724.91 million to Php599.22 million mainly due to capitalization 
of deposits with suppliers upon completion of construction works during the year.  
 
Total liabilities decreased from Php3.36 billion in December 2015 to Php2.58 billion in December 2016 due to 
settlement of short-term loans, subscription payable and dividends payable to stockholders during the year; 
decrease in the level of trade and accounts payable, income tax payable, and retirement liability.  
 
As of December 31, 2016, trade and other payables are at a lower level by Php279.66 million primarily due to 
settlement but were partially offset by higher containers deposit liability.  
 
Short-term loans payable decreased by Php371.66 million after loans were partially settled during the year.  
 
Income taxes payable decreased by Php26.33 million due to lower taxable income during the fourth quarter. 
 
Retirement liability decreased by Php91.27 due to a change in discount rate and lowering of provision for 
annual salary increase after a reassessment of the current salary increment. 

 

 

 
CALENDAR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 COMPARED TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

For the years ending  
December 31, 

 2015 2014 

% change  (In Php millions) 

Revenues 11,262.9 10,352.1 8.8 
Cost of sales and services 7,285.0 6,690.0 8.9 
Gross profit 3,977.9 3,662.2 8.6 
Selling and marketing expenses 1,082.7 945.0 14.6 
General and administrative expenses 350.2 310.9 12.7 
Other income (charges) 44.3 54.2 -18.1 
Income before income tax 2,589.3 2,460.4 5.2 
Provision for income tax 780.1 706.0 10.5 
Net Income 1,809.2 1,754.4 3.1 

 

The Group posted a consolidated net revenue of Php11.26 billion for 2015 which is 8.8% higher versus 2014. 
The additional production lines completed during the middle of the year at Kaybiga, Pampanga and Isabela 
plants enabled the Group to support continuing demand on all SKUs and ensure availability of flavored 
carbonated soft drinks resulting in higher sales volume.  Price adjustments implemented during the summer 
season of 2015 and the full year effect of 2014 increases also contributed to the Group’s growth in revenue. 
 
Cost of goods sold, which consists mainly of raw and packaging materials, direct labor and manufacturing 
overhead, increased by Php595.05 million or 8.9% compared to year-ago level.  
 
As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit reached Php3.98 billion in 2015, an increase of 8.6% 
compared to the previous year. As a percentage to net sales, gross profit rate is stable at 35%. 
 
Selling, marketing and distribution expenses increased by Php137.64 million which is 14.6% versus 2014 due to 
higher promotion and advertising as the Group launched new products and aimed to sustain its market 
position. 
 
General and administrative expenses increased by Php39.31 million or 12.7% for 2015 versus 2014 primarily 
due to increases in salaries and professional fees. Total operating expenses remained manageable at 12.7% of 
net revenue. 
 
Other income decreased by Php9.81 million for 2015 which is lower by 18.1% compared last year. These were 
attributable to lower placements of Macay and foreign exchange losses during the period. 
 
Provision for income tax increased by 10.5% for 2015 compared to 2014 primarily due to the increase in 
taxable income. Meanwhile, there was a one-time set-up of deferred tax asset in 2014 resulting in lower 
income tax. 
 
Overall the group’s net income improved by 3.1% for the year 2015. 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

For the period ending  
December 31, 

 2015 2014 

% change  (In Php millions) 

Current Assets 3,398.1 3,608.2 -5.8 
Non-Current Assets 4,007.8 3,398.6 17.9 
Total Assets 7,405.9 7,006.8 5.7 
    
Current Liabilities 3,267.5 3,073.5 6.3 
Non-Current Liabilities 93.3 89.6 4.2 
Total Liabilities 3,360.8 3,163.1 6.3 
Total Equity 4,045.1 3,843.7 5.2 

 

Sound policy on credit control and working capital management has enabled the Group to maintain a solid 
financial condition.  Cash from operations were used to fund capital expenditures. 

 
The Group’s total assets increased by 5.70% from Php7.01 billion in 2014 to Php7.41 billion in 2015 mainly due 
to increases in inventories, property, plant and equipment, deferred pallets and containers and other non-
current assets. Meanwhile, there were decreases in cash & cash equivalents, short term investments, trade & 
other receivables and other current assets. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased from Php1.49 billion to Php1.05 billion due to payment of cash dividends 
amounting to Php1.5 billion, higher acquisition cost of inventories and capital expenditure on containers and 
equipment.  
 
Total trade and other receivables slightly decreased by Php5.47 million or 1.5% mainly due to settlement of 
related party transactions. 
 
Inventories were higher by Php337.66 million or 21.4% versus 2014 mainly due to increase in the purchases of 
containers and pallets, bottling parts and supplies, raw materials, and higher finished goods inventory level. 
Other current assets decreased by Php81.03 million due to lower input VAT as a result of the acquisition of 
Asiawide's and Mega Asia's assets.     
 
Property, plant and equipment increased by Php124.28 million or 11.7% due to planned capital expenditures 
on bottling equipment and machinery, truck re-fleeting and on-going plant construction during the period. 
 
Deferred containers increased from Php1.61 billion to Php2.03 billion or 25.9% due to infusion of new bottles 
to support volume growth. 
 
Other non-current assets increased from Php651.87 million to Php724.91 million primarily due to higher 
deposits on importation and higher deferred input VAT. 
 
Total liabilities increased from Php3.16 billion as of December 2014 to Php3.36 billion as of December 2015 
mainly due to higher short-term loans payable which was partially offset by the decreases in trade and income 
tax payables. 
 
Non Current Liability increased only by Php3.73 million as the Group made contributions to its retirement 
fund. 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 

The following are the company’s key performance indicators.  Analyses are employed by comparisons and 

measurements based on the financial data of the current period against the same period of previous years. 

 

    2016 2015 2014 

Current ratio 
Current assets over current 
liabilities 

 
1.73:1 

 
1.04:1  1.17:1  

Solvency ratio 
Total assets over total 
liabilities 

 
3.26:1 

 
2.20:1  2.22:1  

Liabilities-to- equity 
ratio 

Total liabilities over total 
equity 

 
0.44:1 

 
0.83:1 0.82:1  

Asset-to-equity ratio Total assets over equity 
 

1.44:1 
 

1.83:1  1.82:1  

Operating margin 
Operating income over net 
sales 

 
21.89% 

 
22.60% 23.24% 

Net profit margin Net profit over net sales 
 

15.98% 
 

16.06% 16.95% 

Interest coverage 
Earnings before interest & 
taxes over interest charges 

 
427.83:1 

 
362.56:1 337.00:1 

 

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  
 
In 2014, 2015 and 2016, the Macay Group's principal source of liquidity was cash receipts from sale of goods 
and tolling services. As of December 31, 2014, 2015 and 2016, Macay Group’s cash and cash equivalents 
reached Php1,494.4 million, Php1,053.2 million and Php1,883.4 million, respectively. 
 
The following table sets forth selected information from Macay Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows 
for the periods indicated.  
 

In Php Million  
 

Period ended December 31 

2016 2015 2014  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  2,438.3 2,178.7 2,658.3 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (1,031.6) (1,496.9) (3,683.4) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (576.6) (1,118.6) (1,442.3) 

 
 
Except for item 4 and 7, Macay does not know of:  
 

1. Any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events, uncertainties that will result or that 
are reasonably likely in Macay’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way;  

2. Any events that would trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to Macay, 
including any default or acceleration of an obligation except those disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements;  

3. Any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations) and other relationships of Macay with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period;  

4. Any material commitments for capital expenditures, their purpose and the sources of funds for such 
expenditures;  

5. Any known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have a 
material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing 
operations;  

6. Any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from Macay’s continuing operations;  

7. The causes of any material change from period to period including vertical and horizontal analysis of 
any material item, the causes of material changes are discussed in the MD & A; and  

8. Any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on financial condition or results of operation of 
Macay. 
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Item 7. Financial Statements 
 
The Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year 2016, Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Schedules as listed in the Index to Exhibit are filed as part of this SEC Form 17-
A. 
 
 
Item 8. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 
Macay has engaged the services of SGV & Co. during the three most recent fiscal years.  There are no 
disagreements with SGV & Co. on accounting and financial disclosures.  
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 

adoption of the new and amended Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and the Philippine 

Interpretations of International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) which became effective 

beginning January 1, 2016.   

Please refer to Note 2 of the attached Macay’s Audited Consolidated Financial Statements on the Summary of 

Significant Accounting Policies for the accounting of the new PFRS and IFRIC which became effective in 2016 

and new PFRS and IFRIC that will be effective in 2017 and 2019. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Macay Group as of and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 

2016 have been audited by SGV & Co. (a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited), independent auditors, 

as stated in their reports appearing herein. 

 

Macay Group has not had any disagreements on accounting and financial disclosures with its current external 

auditors for the same periods or any subsequent interim period. SGV & Co. has neither shareholdings in Macay 

nor any right, whether legally enforceable or not, to nominate persons or to subscribe for the securities in 

Macay. The foregoing is in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines 

set by the Board of Accountancy and approved by the Professional Regulation Commission. 

 

The following table sets out the aggregate fees for December 31, 2015 and 2016 for professional services 

rendered by SGV & Co. to Macay Group. 

 

 For the year ended December 31 

(in Php) 

 2015 2016 

Audit and Audit-Related Services …………………………………………………… 1,750,000 2,500,000 

 

Non-Audit Services ………………………………………………………………………… 0 0 

 

Total ……………………………………………………………………………………………… 1,750,000 2,500,000 
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PART  III. 
  
 
CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
Item 9.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer 
 

(a) The incumbent Directors and Executive Officers of the Company are as follows: 
 

Board of Directors 
 

Office   Name    Age  Citizenship 
 
Chairman  Alfredo M. Yao   73  Filipino 
Director   Antonio I. Panajon  67  Filipino 
Director   Armando M. Yao   65  Filipino 
Director   Jeffrey S. Yao   48  Filipino 
Director   Carolyn S. Yao   50  Filipino   
Director   Mary Grace S. Yao  44  Filipino 
Director   Roberto A. Atendido  69  Filipino 
Director   Albert S. Toribio   65  Filipino 
Director   Fernando R. Balatbat  71  Filipino 
Director   Gerardo T. Garcia  70  Filipino 
Director   Rinaldi C. Aves   55  Filipino 
Independent Director Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr.  70  Filipino 
Independent Director Roberto F. Anonas, Jr.  61  Filipino 
 
 
Period of Directorship 
 
Name    Date Elected 
 
Alfredo M. Yao   18 May 2016 
Antonio I. Panajon  18 May 2016 
Armando M. Yao   18 May 2016 
Jeffrey S. Yao   18 May 2016 
Carolyn S. Yao   18 May 2016   
Mary Grace S. Yao  18 May 2016 
Roberto A. Atendido  18 May 2016 
Albert S. Toribio   18 May 2016 
Fernando R. Balatbat  18 May 2016 
Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr.  18 May 2016 
Roberto F. Anonas, Jr.  18 May 2016 
Gerardo T. Garcia    18 May 2016 
Rinaldi C. Aves   18 May 2016 
 
Executive Officers 
 
Name    Office    Age Citizenship 
Antonio I. Panajon  President   68 Filipino   
Fernando R. Balatbat  Treasurer    71 Filipino   
Jeffrey S. Yao   Vice President   48 Filipino 
Gabriel A. Dee   Corporate Secretary            52 Filipino 
Albert S. Toribio    Assistant Corporate Secretary        65 Filipino 
 
Period of Officership 
 
Name    Position    Period Held 
 
Antonio I. Panajon  President   25 October 2013 – Present 
Fernando R. Balatbat  Treasurer   25 October 2013 – Present 
Jeffrey S. Yao   Vice President   25 July 2014 – Present 
Gabriel A. Dee   Corporate Secretary      25 June 2015 - Present 
Albert S. Toribio    Assistant Corporate Secretary 25 June 2015 - Present 
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Business Experience of Directors and Officers 
 
The business experience of the members of the Board for the last five (5) years is as follows: 
 
Alfredo M. Yao 
Mr. Alfredo M. Yao has been the Chairman of the Company since October 25, 2013.  He serves as 
Chairman Emeritus of the Board of the Philippine Business Bank ("PBB"), a listed company on the 
Philippine Stock Exchange.  He is also currently the Chairman of Zest-O Corporation, Semexco Marketing 
Corp., and Asiawide. He is currently serving as President of Solmac Marketing Inc., Harman Foods (Phil.) 
Inc., and Amchem Marketing, Inc. He also sat as a director of Export and Industry Bank.  He served as 
President of the Philippine Chamber of Commerce and Industry ("PCCI") from 2014 to 2015. He has had 
training in Corporate Governance with Export & Industry Bank.  He has had training on CISA Credit 
Bureau, and on SME Related Issues and other CTB Related issues with the Senate of the Philippines.  He 
also attended a Risk Management Awareness Seminar given by the Pacific Management Forum and PBB; 
and he attended a PCCI Business Forum, given by PCCI.  Mr. Yao is a graduate of Bachelor of Science in 
Chemical Engineering at MAPUA Institute of Technology. 

Armando M. Yao 
Mr. Armando Yao has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013. He is the President of 
Mega Asia and has been a director of various companies such as AMY holdings, Inc., Zest-O 
Corporation, Semexco Marketing Corporation, Harman Foods (Phil.) Inc., Uni-Ipel, Marketing Inc., 
Inc., Asiawide, SMI Development Corporation, Bev-Pack and Downtown Realty and Investment 
Corporation.  Mr. Yao earned his Bachelor of Science Degree in Mechanical Engineering from MAPUA 
Institute of Technology. 
 
Antonio I. Panajon 
Antonio I. Panajon has been a director and the President of the Company since 25 October 2013.  He 
has over 40 years of experience in the beverage industry. He worked for Pepsi Cola Bottling Company 
from 1974 to 1989, his last position being its Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer.  
He then moved to Cosmos Bottling Corporation from 1990 to 2001 as its President and Chief Operating 
Officer.  At present, he is the Chairman of Summit Leasing and Financing Company.  He also serves as 
a member of the board of directors of Pharma-Rex Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Tao Corporation, 
New MarketlinkPharma Corp., Asiawide-Kalbe Corporation, and General Nutrition Company. He 
earned his Bachelor of Arts in Public Administration degree from the University of the Philippines in 
1970 and completed the Strategic Business Economics Program of the University of Asia and the 
Pacific. 
 
Jeffrey S. Yao 
Mr. Jeffrey Yao has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013 and Vice President since 25 
July 2014. He currently serves as Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of PBB and has been a Director  
since 1999.  He currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors in Asiawide.  He is currently 
serving as Chief Operating Officer of Zest-O Corporation.  He earned his Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Management Engineering from the Ateneo de Manila University. 

Carolyn S. Yao 
Ms. Carolyn Yao has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013.  She has served as a 
Director of various companies such as Zest-O Corporation, SMI Development Corporation, Mega Asia, 
AMY Holdings, Inc., Semexco Marketing Corporation, Downtown Realty Investment Corporation and 
Bev Pack, Inc. Ms. Yao is a graduate of Commerce from the University of Sto. Tomas. 
 
Mary Grace S. Yao 
Ms. Mary Grace Yao has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013. She has been a 
Director of various companies such as AMY Holdings, Inc., Zest-O Corporation, Semexco Marketing 
Corporation, SMI Development Corporation, Downtown Realty Investment Corporation and Bev-Pack, 
Inc.  She is a graduate of Food Technology from the University of the Philippines; 
 
Roberto A. Atendido 
Roberto A. Atendido has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013.  He currently serves 
as Vice Chairman and Director of Asian Alliance Investment Corporation and President and Director of 
Asian Alliance Holdings and Development Corporation. In addition, he is a member of the board of 
directors of Paxys, Inc., Philippine Business Bank, and Sinag Energy Philippines, Inc.  He graduated 
from Ateneo de Manila University in 1970 after obtaining his degree in Bachelor of Science in 
Management Engineering, with honors.  He completed his Master’s Degree in Business Management 
from the Asian Institute of Management in 1973. 
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Albert S. Toribio 
Albert S. Toribio has been a director of the Company since 25 October 2013. He was also appointed as 
the Company's Assistant Corporate Secretary on 25 June 2015. He was the Chief Finance Officer and 
director of Zest Airways, Inc. from 2008 until 2013. He has more than 20 years experience in the food 
and beverage business, beginning with Cosmos Bottling Corp. from 1990 until 2001, in which he last 
served as Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer, responsible for its comptrollership, 
accounting, management information system, financial planning, and treasury.  He was concurrently 
an Assistant Vice President of RFM Corporation from 1992 to 1994.  He is presently connected with 
Asiawide , serving as a director since 2003.  He was also its Chief Financial Officer from 2007 to 2008.  
Mr. Toribio was likewise previously connected with Arthur Andersen & Co. from 1987 to 1990 and SGV 
& Co. from 1973 to 1987.  He finished his degree in Bachelor of Science in Business Administration – 
Accounting with magna cum laude honors from the University of the East in 1972 and his Master’s 
Degree in Business Management from the Asian Institute of Management in 1980.  
 
Fernando R. Balatbat 
Fernando R. Balatbat has been a director and Treasurer of the Company since 25 October 2013.  He is 
also a director/Treasurer of Summit Leasing & Finance Inc. and director/Chief Financial Officer of 
Pharma-Rex Inc. He is likewise a director of First Ardent Property Development Corp., Aster 
Management Corporation, and Costa de Madera Corporation. Mr. Balatbat has been in the finance 
sector for almost 40 years, serving as, among others, Group Vice President, Corporate Development 
Unit, of Metro Pacific Corporation from 1989 to 2004; as consultant to the Governor of the Central 
Bank of the Philippines from 1981 to 1984; Managing Director and consultant of the PNB International 
Finance, Ltd. (Hong Kong) from 1981 to 1984; President and Director of Astley & Pearce – ASEAN, Inc. 
from 1977 to 1980; and as Vice President of the Treasury/Money Market Division of General Bank & 
Trust Company from 1974 to 1977.  An awardee of the Ten Outstanding Young Men (TOYM) of the 
Philippines in 1982, Mr. Balatbat completed his Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics in 1965 and his 
Masters in Business Management in 1967 from the Ateneo de Manila University. 
 
Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. 
Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. has been an independent director of the Company since 25 October 2013.  
Currently an adjunct professor (after being a full-time professor for 40 years) at the Asian Institute of 
Management (AIM), Prof. Gallegos focuses on strategic management, strategic innovation, and ethics. 
He was formerly Chairman of the Board of Directors of Solutions Insurance Brokers, Inc. and Solutions 
Inc. for seven years.  Prior to his stint with AIM, he was Vice President for Operations and General 
Manager of International Food and Agriculture Resources Management Services, Inc. and Senior 
Consultant to the Secretary of the Department of Agriculture and Natural Resources.   He taught at 
the De la Salle University (Doctor in Business Administration Program), Institute of International 
Studies and Training in Japan (Visiting Professor), Ateneo de Manila University Graduate School of 
Business, and Maryknoll College.  He was also the Institute Dean and Chief Operating Officer of AIM 
from 1995 to 2000.  A licensed engineer, Prof. Gallegos completed his degree in Bachelor of Science 
in Chemical Engineering from De la Salle University.  He then obtained his Master’s Degree in Business 
Management from AIM and his doctorate in Business Administration (with High Distinction) from De la 
Salle University.  He was a recipient of AIM’s Alumni Achievement Award (Triple A) and the De la Salle 
University Graduate School of Business’s Most Outstanding Alumnus Excellence Award. 
 
Roberto F. Anonas, Jr. 
Roberto F. Anonas, Jr. has been an independent director of the Company since 25 October 2013.  He 
has been a member of the faculty of the Entrepreneurial Management Program of the University of 
Asia and the Pacific since 2001 until the present.  He is also an adjunct faculty member of the 
Bachelor of Science in Business Administration Program of Enderun Colleges from 2010 until the 
present.  He served as the President of Marizza Manufacturing Corporation (1995 to 2012), The 
Finalist Corporation (2005 to 2014), President of Cyberland Global Corporation (2009 to 2014), and  
Partner at Pacific Star Technologies, Inc. from 1999 to 2001.  Prior to this he was with Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Company (1987 to 1998) and with PCI Capital Corporation from 1981 to 1987.  He 
completed his degree in Bachelor of Arts in Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1976 
and obtained his Masters in Business Administration degree from IMEDE in Lausanne, Switzerland in 
1978. 
 
Gerardo T. Garcia   
Gerardo T. Garcia was first elected as director of our company on July 25, 2014. He is a Director and 
the Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of ARC. Mr. Garcia is concurrently a director 
of Asiawide. He was Senior Vice President of Marketing and Sales in Cosmos Bottling Corporation from 
1993 to 2002. Prior to this, he held the position of Executive Vice President and Chief Operating 
Officer of Filipinas Water Bottling Corp. and Vice President for Franchising and International 
Operations of Jollibee Foods Corporation. He also worked in Pepsi Cola Bottling Co. He graduated 
from Letran College with a degree in Political Science. 
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Rinaldi C. Aves  
Rinaldi C. Aves was first elected as director of our company on July 25, 2014. He is the Vice President 
for Technical Services of ARC and concurrently a director in Asiawide. Prior to joining ARC 
Refreshments, he worked in Cosmos Bottling Corporation and Pepsi Cola Bottling Co. He graduated 
from the University of the Philippines with a degree in Industrial Engineering. 
 
Gabriel A. Dee 
Atty. Gabriel A. Dee assumed the position of Corporate Secretary on June 25, 2015. He graduated 

from the University of the Philippines in 1984 with a degree of Bachelor of Arts major in History and 

finished his Bachelor of Laws in the same school in 1988. He finished his MBA in Ateneo De Manila 

Graduate School of Business in 1992. He has been affiliated with and has occupied the following 

positions in various institutions in the last five (5) years: Director and Assistant Corporate Secretary 

(2013 to present), MJC Investments Corporation; Senior Partner (2006 to present) and Junior Partner 

(1994 to 2006), Picazo Buyco Tan Fider & Santos Law Offices; Senior Associate (1992 to 1994) and 

Junior Associate (1988 to 1992), Bautista Picazo Buyco Tan & Fider Law Offices; and Research 

Assistant (1998), University of the Philippines, College of Law. 

 
Directorships in Other Reporting Companies 
 
The following are directorships held by Directors and Executive Officers in other reporting companies 
during the last five years: 
 
Name of Corporation      Position 
 
Jeffrey S. Yao 
Philippine Business Bank ………………………………………………………………… Vice-Chairman 
 
Roberto A. Atendido 
Philippine Business Bank………………….……………………………………………… Director 
Paxys, Inc. ……………………………………………………………………………………….. Director 

 
Gabriel A. Dee 
MJC Investments Corporation ………………….……………………….…………… Director 

 
 

Board Committees and Committee Membership 
 
The members of the Nominations Committee are: 
 

Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. Chairman 
Antonio I. Panajon Member 
Fernando R. Balatbat Member 

 
 
The members of the Audit Committee are: 
 

Roberto F. Anonas, Jr. Chairman 
Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. Member 
Albert S. Toribio Member 
Fernando R. Balatbat Member 

 
 
The members of the Corporate Governance Committee are: 
 

Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. Chairman 
Roberto F. Anonas, Jr. Member 
Roberto A. Atendido Member 
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The members of the Compensation Committee are: 
 

Roberto F. Anonas, Jr Chairman 
Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. Member 
Gerardo T. Garcia Member 

 
 
The Directors possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications provided for in the SRC 
and its Implementing Rules and Regulations as well as the Company’s By-laws. Moreover, the 
Company has complied with the Guidelines set forth by SRC (Securities Regulation Code) Rule 38 
regarding the Nomination and Election of Independent Director. The Company’s By-Laws incorporate 
the procedures for the nomination and election of independent director/s in accordance with the 
requirements of the said Rule. 
 
 

(b) Significant Employees 
 
The Company’s business is not dependent on the services of any particular employee. 

 
 
(c) Family Relationships 
 
Mr. Armando M. Yao is the brother of Mr. Alfredo M. Yao.  Mr. Jeffrey S. Yao, Ms. Carolyn S. Yao, and Ms. 
Mary Grace S. Yao are the children of Mr. Alfredo M. Yao. All other directors and officers are not related 
either by consanguinity or affinity. There are no other family relationships known to the registrant other 
than the ones disclosed herein. 
 
 
(d) Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
There are no known related party transactions other than those described in Note 18 (Related Party 
Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
(e) Involvement in Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is not aware of any of the following events having occurred during the past five years up to 
the date of this report that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of any director, 
nominee for election as Director, executive officer, underwriter or controlling person of the Company: 
 

(1)  any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner 
or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time; 

(2)  any conviction by final judgment, including the nature of the offense, in a criminal proceeding, 
domestic or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, 
excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses; 

(3)  being subject to any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, 
of any court of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, 
barring suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, 
commodities or banking activities;  

(4)  being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or 
comparable foreign body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or other organized trading market or 
self-regulatory organization, to have violated a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the 
judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated; and 

(5)  a securities or commodities law or regulation, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended 
or vacated. 
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Item 10. Executive Compensation 
 
 

Executive Compensation of Macay Holdings, Inc. 
 
 

Name Year Salary & Other Benefits 
(in Php Million) 

Other Annual Compensation 
(in Php Million) 

Management, as a 
group 

2016 6.35 0.00 

Directors, as a group 2016 0.00 6.70 

 
Employment contracts between the Company and named executive officers 
 
The Company has no special employment contracts with the named key executive officers. 
 
Warrants and options outstanding 
 
There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the President, the named executive officers, and all 
officers and directors as a group. 
 
Stock option plan 
 
The Company has no employee stock option plan. 

 
 
Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

As of December 31, 2016, the following are the owners of the Company’s common stock in excess of 5% of 
total outstanding shares: 

  
Title of 
Class 

 

Name and Address 
of Record Owner 
and Relationship 

with Issuer 

Name of 
Beneficial 

Owner 
and 

Relationship 
with Record 

Owner 

Citizenship No. of Shares 
Held 

Percent 
( % ) 

 

 
Common 

 
Mazy’s Capital, Inc. 
  
84 Dapitan Street 
corner Banawe 
Street, Quezon City 
 
Controlling 
Shareholder of 
Issuer 
 
 

 
Zest-O 
Corporation  
 
574 EDSA, 
Caloocan 
City 
 
Shareholder 
 
Mega Asia 
Bottling 
Corporation 
 
Barangay 
Calulut, San 
Fernando, 
Pampanga 
 
Shareholder 
 

 
Filipino 

 
958,941,660 

 
89.76% 
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Security Ownership of Management as of December 31, 2016 

 
Title of 

Securities 
Name of Beneficial 

Owner  
 

Amount and 
Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

(D) direct/(I) 
indirect 

 

Citizenship Percent 
of Class 

Common Alfredo M. Yao 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Armando M. Yao 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Carolyn S. Yao 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Jeffrey S. Yao 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Mary Grace S. Yao 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Antonio I. Panajon 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Fernando R. Balatbat 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Roberto A. Atendido 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Albert S. Toribio 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Jesus G. Gallegos, Jr. 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Roberto F. Anonas, Jr. 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Gerardo T. Garcia 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Rinaldi C. Aves 1 (D) Filipino 0 

Common Gabriel A. Dee 0 Filipino 0 

 
Total 

  

13 

  
0 

 
 
Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More 

There are no persons holding more than 5% of a class under a voting trust or any similar agreements as of 
December 31, 2016. 

 

Change in Control 

The Company is not aware of any arrangement that may result in a change in control of the Company. 
 
 
Item 12. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
Related transactions are described in Note 18 (Related Party Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 

No other transaction was undertaken by the Company in which any Director or Executive Officer was involved 

or had a direct or indirect material interest.  

To date, there are no complaints received by the Company regarding related-party transactions. 

 

Transactions with Promoters 

There are no transactions with promoters within the past five (5) years. 
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PART  IV. 
  
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Item 13. Corporate Governance 
 
In compliance with the amendments required under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 9 series of 2014, the Group 
submitted its Revised Corporate Governance Manual (“the Manual”) on September 5, 2014.  Macay has 
complied with the principles contained in the Manual insofar as they may be relevant to its business.  Measures 
are also being undertaken by the company to ensure full compliance with the leading practices it has adopted 
in the Manual such as the constitution of the Nomination Committee, the Compensation and Remuneration 
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, and the election of the required 
number of independent directors to its Board of Directors. The Company has not deviated from or violated the 
provisions of the Manual and it will abide by its corporate governance guidelines as may be required by law or 
the exigency of business.   
 
Macay submitted its Annual Corporate Governance Report (ACGR) for the years 2014 and 2015 together with 
the its Annual 17-A Report, as stipulated by the SEC.  This year, pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular Number 
20 (Series of 2016), the company will comply and aims to submit its 2016 ACGR on or before May 30, 2017. 
 
The Company’s Annual Corporate Governance Report for the years 2012 to 2015 can be viewed on the 
Company’s website (www.macayholdings.com.ph)  
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PART  V. 
  
 
EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
Item 14. Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C 
 

(a) Exhibits – see accompanying Index to Exhibits 
 

(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C 

 
Reports on SEC Form 17-C were filed during the last six-month period covered by this report and are 
listed below: 
 

Date Particulars 

August 5, 2016 Approval of Corporate Policies 
 
The Board of Directors, during its meeting on August 5, 2016, resolved to 
adopt the following policies: 
 
1. Insider Trading Policy  
2. Conflict of Interest Policy 
3. Related Party Transaction Policy 
4. Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Policy 
5. Employee Health, Safety, Welfare and Development Policy 
6. Code of Conduct and Discipline 
 

August 5, 2016 
 

Appointment of a Director to the Audit Committee 
 
The Board of Directors, during its meeting on August 5, 2016, resolved to 
appoint Mr. Fernando R. Balatbat as member of the Audit Committee. 
 

August 5, 2016 
 
 

Appointment of Business Development and Marketing Director 
 
Macay Holdings, Inc. has appointed Ms. Andrea J. Pama as its Marketing and 
Business Development Director. 
 

January 12, 2017 
 

Clarification on News Article posted by BusinessWorld (Internet Edition) on 
January 12, 2017 
 
Macay Holdings, Inc. (“Macay”) wishes to issue this clarification: 
 
As part of its vision to be a dominant company in consumer products and 
services in the Philippines and in other Asian countries the company has been 
scouting for acquisitions and partners that will allow the company to expand 
and therefore has remained open to some investment proposals by third 
parties to improve its liquidity and has not closed its doors to the option of 
raising capital and this depends on timing and favourable market conditions. 
These plans are preliminary and will still need Macay's Board approval.  
 
We trust that the foregoing clarifies the matter. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Macay Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Macay Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and
2015, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2016, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2016 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
1226 Makati City
Philippines

Tel: (632) 891 0307
Fax: (632) 819 0872
ey.com/ph

BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,
   December 14, 2015, valid until December 31, 2018
SEC Accreditation No. 0012-FR-4 (Group A),
   November 10, 2015, valid until November 9, 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Estimating Useful Life of Deferred Pallets and Containers

In accordance with its policy, the Group reviews annually the estimated useful life of its deferred pallets
and containers based on the profile of the assets and scuff level analysis.  The estimation of useful life is
based on internal technical evaluation done on a collective basis, and the Group’s experience with similar
assets in so far as breakages and trip lives are concerned.  We consider this as a key audit matter because
estimating the useful life of deferred pallets and containers requires significant judgment and estimation
by management.  In addition, this estimate has significant impact in the consolidated financial statements,
particularly on impairment assessment and/or testing, amortization of deferred pallets and containers, and
recognition of the Group’s liability pertaining to customers’ refundable deposits made in relation to
containers in trade.

As of December 31, 2016, the carrying value of deferred pallets and containers amounted to P=1.91 billion.
The Group recognized amortization expense of these assets amounting to P=816.23 million in 2016.
See Notes 2 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Audit response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s process in estimating the useful life of its deferred pallets
and containers.  We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of management’s specialist who
performed the technical evaluation of the estimated useful life. We also tested the relevant controls over
the management estimation process. We performed an analysis of the information used by management in
determining the estimates. We tested selected information such as the condition of the assets, level of
breakages, and trip lives to supporting documents such as containers profiling and scuff level analysis.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the
SEC Form 17-A and/or Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016 but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, and the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A or
Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016, which is expected to be made available to us after
that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:

∂ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

∂ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

∂ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

∂ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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∂ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

∂ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit.  We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is John T. Villa.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

John T. Villa
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 94065
SEC Accreditation No. 0783-AR-2 (Group A),
 May 1, 2015, valid until April 30, 2018
Tax Identification No. 901-617-005
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-76-2015,
 February 27, 2015, valid until February 26, 2018
PTR No. 5908775, January 3, 2017, Makati City

April 6, 2017

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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MACAY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years Ended December 31
2016 2015 2014

REVENUES
Sale of goods P=11,374,354,624 P=11,258,644,628 P=10,346,618,774
Tolling revenues (Note 18g) 3,958,626 4,288,700 5,528,354

11,378,313,250 11,262,933,328 10,352,147,128

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES (Note 14) (7,427,775,072) (7,285,035,987) (6,689,985,641)

GROSS PROFIT 3,950,538,178 3,977,897,341 3,662,161,487

EXPENSES
Selling and marketing (Note 15) 1,130,339,970 1,082,689,223 945,048,542
General and administrative (Note 16) 329,395,854 350,208,218 310,894,767

1,459,735,824 1,432,897,441 1,255,943,309

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES)
Interest income (Note 4) 12,416,997 8,105,630 36,819,374
Share in net income of joint venture (Note 10) 491,875 1,471,937 233,633
Interest expense (Note 12) (5,908,056) (7,139,269) (7,213,060)
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - net (278,155) (4,427,043) 4,518,738
Others - net (Note 17) 36,611,693 46,335,297 19,799,323

43,334,354 44,346,552 54,158,008

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 2,534,136,708 2,589,346,452 2,460,376,186

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM)
INCOME TAX (Note 21)

Current 719,456,474 773,445,384 738,637,080
Deferred (3,883,837) 6,707,411 (32,687,391)

715,572,637 780,152,795 705,949,689

NET INCOME 1,818,564,071 1,809,193,657 1,754,426,497

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)

Other comprehensive (income) loss not to be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
Remeasurement gains (losses) on retirement

  benefits, net of tax (Note 20) 78,434,368 28,383 (18,674,116)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P=1,896,998,439 P=1,809,222,040 P=1,735,752,381

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share (Note 24) P=1.70 P=1.69 P=1.64

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACAY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

Additional Stock Equity Other
Paid-in Dividend Reserve Comprehensive Retained Earnings

Capital Stock Capital Payable (Note 2) Income (Loss) Appropriated Unappropriated Total

Balances at January 1, 2014 P=1,068,393,223 P=1,153,568,289 P=– P=1,812,198,536 (P=7,799,616) P=– P=1,200,209,544 P=5,226,569,976

Net income − − − − − − 1,754,426,497 1,754,426,497

Other comprehensive loss − − − − (18,674,116) − − (18,674,116)

Total comprehensive income – – – – (18,674,116) − 1,754,426,497 1,735,752,381

Distribution to owners of Asiawide and Mega Asia
(Note 2) − − − (353,750,001) − − (1,322,571,953) (1,676,321,954)

Dividends declared (Note 13) − − − (1,441,448,535) − − (882,316) (1,442,330,851)

Balances at December 31, 2014 1,068,393,223 1,153,568,289 − 17,000,000 (26,473,732) − 1,631,181,772 3,843,669,552

Net income for the year – – – – – − 1,809,193,657 1,809,193,657

Other comprehensive income – – – – 28,383 − – 28,383

Total comprehensive income – – – – 28,383 − 1,809,193,657 1,809,222,040

Distribution to previous stockholders of ARCHI
(Notes 1 and 13) – – – (17,000,000) – − (41,656,025) (58,656,025)

Dividends declared (Note 13) – – – – – − (1,549,170,175) (1,549,170,175)

Balances at December 31, 2015 1,068,393,223 1,153,568,289 – – (26,445,349) − 1,849,549,229 4,045,065,392

Net income – – – – – − 1,818,564,071 1,818,564,071

Other comprehensive income – – – – 78,434,368 − – 78,434,368

Total comprehensive income – – – – 78,434,368 − 1,818,564,071 1,896,998,439

Dividends declared (Note 13) – – 224,362,576 – – − (352,569,761) (128,207,185)

Appropriations (Note 13) – – – – – 1,052,044,720 (1,052,044,720) –

Balances at December 31, 2016 P=1,068,393,223 P=1,153,568,289 P=224,362,576 P=– P=51,989,019 P=1,052,044,720 P=2,263,498,819 P=5,813,856,646

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



*SGVFS023439*

MACAY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax P=2,534,136,708 P=2,589,346,452 P=2,460,376,186
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization
  (Notes 14, 15 and 16) 1,088,769,821 902,452,023 688,441,416

Retirement expense (Note 20) 20,790,549 36,823,603 32,014,967
Interest expense (Note 12) 5,908,056 7,139,269 7,213,060
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) - net 860,313 4,427,043 (1,252,482)
Provision for impairment losses on inventories

  (Notes 6, 14 and 15) 2,913,747 – 11,562,092
Interest income (Note 4) (12,416,997) (8,105,630) (36,819,374)
Share in net income of joint venture (Note 10) (491,875) (1,471,937) (233,633)
Loss from (reversal on) write-off of CWTs

  (Note 17) – (9,736,529) 9,736,529
Provision for impairment losses on trade and

  other receivables (Note 5) – 732,160 2,169,999
Operating income before working capital changes 3,640,470,322 3,521,606,454 3,173,208,760
Decrease (increase) in:

Trade and other receivables (Note 5) (43,233,627) 4,733,702 (336,412,145)
Inventories (Note 6) (141,464,016) (337,663,973) (286,830,054)
Other current assets (Note 7) (28,148,616) 90,263,179 (143,242,176)

Increase (decrease) in:
Trade and other payables (279,656,865) (101,983,529) 847,376,843
Trade loans payable (Note 12) 31,145,523 (55,851,787) (192,822,955)

Net cash generated from operations 3,179,112,721 3,121,104,046 3,061,278,273
Interest received 10,908,202 8,105,630 35,504,745
Income taxes paid, including creditable withholding
 taxes (Note 23) (745,785,172) (910,271,711) (406,469,419)
Interest paid (Note 12) (5,908,056) (7,139,269) (7,213,060)
Contributions paid to plan assets (Note 20) (10,859) (33,048,963) (24,752,906)
Net cash from operating activities 2,438,316,836 2,178,749,733 2,658,347,633

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent assets 125,690,479 (73,033,152) (542,883,267)
Additions to:

Deferred pallets and containers (Note 9) (701,115,733) (1,057,007,451) (1,129,875,422)
Property, plant and equipment (Notes 8 and 12) (422,189,052) (386,879,344) (420,133,301)

Proceeds from termination (payment for availment)
 of short-term investments (17,000,000) 20,000,000 (20,000,000)
Payment for subscription payable (Notes 1 and 2) (17,000,000) – (1,570,519,360)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,031,614,306) (1,496,919,947) (3,683,411,350)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of short-term loan (Note 12) (450,000,000) (50,000,000) –
Cash dividends paid (Note 13) (126,583,212) (1,549,170,175) (1,442,330,851)
Distribution to previous owners of ARCHI (Note 13) – (19,464,022) –
Proceeds from availment of loans (Note 12) – 500,000,000 –
Net cash used in financing activities (576,583,212) (1,118,634,197) (1,442,330,851)

(Forward)
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Years Ended December 31

2016 2015 2014

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON
 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS P=101,179 (P=4,427,043) P=1,252,483

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
 CASH EQUIVALENTS 830,220,497 (441,231,454) (2,466,142,085)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXCLUDED
 IN NET ASSETS PURCHASED (Note 23) – – (794,171,315)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
 BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,053,174,904 1,494,406,358 4,754,719,758

CASH AND CASH EQUIVLENTS AT END OF
 YEAR (Note 4) P=1,883,395,401 P=1,053,174,904 P=1,494,406,358

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MACAY HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate Information

Macay Holdings, Inc. (the Parent Company or MHI) is a company incorporated in the Philippines
and registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on
October 16, 1930 primarily to reflect the business of a holding company.  Under its amended
Articles of Incorporation, the corporate life of the Parent Company was extended for another 50
years up to October 16, 2030.  The shares of stock of Macay Holdings, Inc. are listed and traded as
“MACAY” on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) starting 2013. The Parent Company owns
100% interest and operates as the holding company of ARC Refreshments Corporation (ARC
Refreshments), a beverage company and ARC Holdings, Inc. (ARCHI), a holding company.

The registered office address and principal place of business of the Parent Company is 137 Yakal
Street, San Antonio Village, Makati City, Philippines 1203.

The Parent Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements as the “Group”.

Change in Ownership
On September 24, 2013, Mazy’s Capital, Inc. (MCI, a Filipino corporation) and Maybank Kim
Eng Holdings Limited (MKEHL) signed a Share Purchase Agreement (the Agreement), wherein
MCI purchased all of the issued common shares held by MKEHL totaling to 958,923,466 shares,
representing an 89.75% stake in the Parent Company (the Sale Shares), for the purchase price of
P=3.3298 per share (with the purchase transaction referred to as the Acquisition).  Among the
conditions for such acquisition was the sale for cash of substantially all of the assets of the Parent
Company to Maybank ATR KE Capital, which assets included the Parent Company’s
shareholdings in its subsidiaries, AsianLife and General Assurance Corporation and ATR KE
Land.  Consequently, these subsidiaries, which made up the former businesses of the Parent
Company, were sold to Maybank ATR KE Capital.  Total consideration for the Acquisition
amounted to P=3.19 billion.  The transaction was executed in the PSE on October 25, 2013 (start of
common control).  As a result, the Parent Company retained mostly only cash and receivables as
its assets, with the latter consisting almost entirely of amounts due from the sale.

MCI is 42.86% owned by Mega Asia Bottling Corporation (Mega Asia) and 57.14% owned by
Zest-O Corporation (Zest-O).  Mega Asia is an entity under common control while Zest-O is the
ultimate parent company of the Group.

On December 3, 2013, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the change of the trading symbol
of the Parent Company’s shares in the PSE from “MAKE” to “MACAY”.  On the same date, the
shareholders of the Parent Company approved the change in its corporate name from Maybank
ATR Kim Eng Financial Corporation to Macay Holdings, Inc.  The SEC approved the amended
articles of incorporation for the Parent Company’s change in corporate name on January 27, 2014.

Investment in New Business
On November 18, 2013, the Parent Company, through its BOD, approved the  investment in a food
and beverage company.  On December 3, 2013, the SEC approved the incorporation of ARC
Refreshments, of which the Parent Company has 100.00% ownership.
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ARC Refreshments is primarily engaged in the business of trading of goods such as beverages on
wholesale bases and to operate, conduct, and maintain the business of manufacturing, importing,
buying, selling, handling, bottling, distribution, trading, or otherwise dealing in, at wholesale and,
to the extent allowed by law, drinks and other containers or dispensers and other related goods of
whatever nature, and any and all materials, supplies, and other goods used or employed in or
related to the manufacture of such finished products.

On December 27, 2013, the BOD of ARC Refreshments approved (a) the acquisition of
substantially the operating assets of Mega Asia consisting of machinery and equipment used in its
bottling operations and (b) the acquisition of substantially all of the operating assets of Asiawide
Refreshments Corporation (Asiawide) consisting of machinery and equipment, bottles,
inventories, receivables and other assets and the assumption of some liabilities incurred in the
normal course of business.

On January 31, 2014, ARC Refreshments executed the Asset Purchase Agreements (APAs) with
Mega Asia and Asiawide.  The carrying values of the net assets transferred as of January 31, 2014
amounted to P=1.00 billion and P=0.57 billion from Asiawide and Mega Asia, respectively.  Total
consideration amounted to P=1.57 billion which was settled on July 13, 2014 (see Note 2).

On June 26, 2014, the Parent Company through its BOD, approved the additional investment in
ARC Refreshments amounting to 190 million shares at P=10 per share for a total investment of
P=1,900.00 million.

On August 13, 2015, the Parent Company executed a Share Purchase Agreement with all
shareholders of ARCHI.  ARCHI is the holder of the trademark of Royal Crown Cola, Inc.
(RCCI), owner of the RC Cola brand.  The purpose of the acquisition is to consolidate all the
licensing, trademark and related rights on the RC Cola brand.  All issued and outstanding common
shares totaling 1.70 million shares shall be purchased by the Parent Company at P=10 per share for
a total consideration of P=17.00 million.  The consideration was settled on November 10, 2016.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group as of December 31, 2016 and
2015 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, were approved and
authorized for issue by the BOD on April 6, 2017.

2. Basis of Preparation, Statement of Compliance and Changes in Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso (P=), which is the
Group’s functional currency.  All amounts are rounded off to the nearest P=, except when otherwise
indicated.

Acquisition of Operating Assets of Asiawide and Mega Asia
On January 31, 2014, ARC Refreshments completed the acquisition of the operating assets of
Asiawide and Mega Asia through a cash transaction (see Note 1).  For accounting purposes, the
transaction was accounted for similar to a reverse acquisition following Philippine Financial
Reporting Standard (PFRS) 3, Business Combination.  Asiawide was deemed to be the accounting
acquirer under the principles of PFRS 3.  In a reverse acquisition, the legal acquirer is identified as
the acquiree for accounting purposes because based on the substance of the transaction, the legal
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acquiree is adjudged to be the entity that gained control over the legal acquirer.  Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared as a continuation of
consolidated financial statements of Asiawide and Mega Asia.

Because the consolidated financial statements represent a continuation of the consolidated
financial statements of Asiawide and Mega Asia, except for their capital structure, the
consolidation will reflect the following:

After the asset purchase transaction (as at and for the year ended December 31, 2014)

a) the transferred assets and liabilities of Asiawide and Mega Asia recognized and measured at
their pre-combination carrying amounts, not at their acquisition-date fair values;

b) legal capital of the Parent Company;

c) the retained earnings and other equity balances (other than the legal capital) of the Parent
Company and ARC Refreshments;

d) the consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflected that of Asiawide and Mega
Asia for one-month period (i.e. from January 1, 2014 up to the date of asset purchase
transactions), and that of ARC Refreshment and Parent Company for the full period.

Impact of the asset purchase agreement which was executed on January 31, 2014 to the
 consolidated financial statements
In January 2014, the effect of the execution of the asset purchase agreement and the exclusion of
certain assets and liabilities of Asiawide and Mega Asia from the combined net assets were
reflected in the consolidated financial statements as movement in equity, as follows:

Retained earnings of Asiawide and Mega Asia P=1,322,571,953
Equity reserve 353,750,001

P=1,676,321,954

The reduction in equity represents the cash payment to the owners of Asiawide and Mega Asia
amounting to P=1,570.52 million and the net assets of Asiawide and Mega Asia not included in the
asset purchase transaction amounting to P=105.8 million as of January 31, 2014.

Details of the net assets excluded from the asset purchased are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents P=794,171,315
Net noncash assets and liabilities (Notes 10 and 23) (688,368,721)

P=105,802,594

Acquisition of ARCHI
On August 13, 2015, the shareholders of ARCHI signed a Share Purchase Agreement where the
shareholders offered to sell their shares to the Parent Company.  On the same date, Deeds of
Absolute Sale of Shares were executed on the subject shares.  As a result, ARCHI became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent Company.



- 4 -

*SGVFS023439*

Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with PFRS.
The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same reporting date
and reporting period as those of the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries as at December 31 of each year.  Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only, if the Group has:

∂ Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee);

∂ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
∂ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

∂ The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
∂ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
∂ The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation of a
subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary.  Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date
the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the
equity holders of the Parent Company and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.  When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.  All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

∂ Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
∂ Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
∂ Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
∂ Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
∂ Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
∂ Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
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∂ Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
New and Amended Standards and Interpretations and Improved PFRS Adopted in

Calendar Year 2016
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for
the adoption of the following new accounting pronouncement starting January 1, 2016.  Unless
otherwise indicated, the adoption did not have any significant impact on the financial statements
of the Group.

∂ Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment, and PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation

∂ Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and PAS 41,
Agriculture - Bearer Plants

∂ Amendments to PAS 27, Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate
Financial  Statements

∂ Amendments to PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements - Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations

∂ PFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts
∂ Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 28, Investment Entities: Applying the

  Consolidation Exception
∂ Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure Initiative

Improvements to PFRS
2012-2014 Cycle
∂ PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations - Changes in

Methods of Disposal
∂ PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Servicing Contracts
∂ PFRS 7, Applicability of the Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim Financial

Statements
∂ PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount Rate
∂ PAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting - Disclosure of Information ‘Elsewhere in the Interim

Financial Report’

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Effective Subsequent to
 December 31, 2016
The Group will adopt the standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become
effective.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new,
revised and amended standards and new Philippine Interpretation from International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) to have a significant impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Effective in 2017:

∂ Amendment to PFRS 12, Clarification of the Scope of the Standard (Part of Annual
 Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)

∂ Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure Initiative
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∂ Amendments to Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) 12, Income Taxes - Recognition
of Deferred Tax Assets for  Unrealized Losses

Effective in 2018:

∂ Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

∂ Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts, Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments,
with PFRS 4

∂ PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts
with customers.  Under PFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer.  The principles in PFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to
measuring and recognizing revenue.

The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under PFRSs.  Either a full or modified retrospective application is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The Group is currently
assessing the impact of adopting this standard.

∂ PFRS 9, Financial Instruments

PFRS 9 reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces PAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and all previous versions of PFRS 9.  The
standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment, and
hedge accounting.  PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  Retrospective application is required, but
providing comparative information is not compulsory.  For hedge accounting, the
requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

The adoption of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the
Group’s financial assets and impairment methodology for financial assets, but will have no
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.  The
adoption will also have an effect on the Group’s application of hedge accounting and on the
amount of its credit losses.  The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting this
standard.

∂ Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value (Part of
Annual Improvements to PFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle)

∂ Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property
∂ Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration
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Effective in 2019:

∂ PFRS 16, Leases

Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating or
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17, Leases.  Rather, lessees will apply the single-asset
model.  Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for most
leases on their balance sheets, and subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and recognize
interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss.  Leases with a term of 12 months or less
or for which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these requirements.

The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries forward the
principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17.  Lessors, however, will be required to disclose
more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk exposure to residual
value.

Entities may early adopt PFRS 16 but only if they have also adopted PFRS 15.  When
adopting PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach, with options to use certain transition reliefs.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting PFRS 16.

 Deferred Effectivity:

∂ Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognized:

Sale of Goods
Revenues reflected in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income pertain to sale of
goods.  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods have passed to the buyer, which is upon delivery of the goods.  Revenue recognized is
net of trade deals and pick-up discounts.

In 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group recognized net revenues amounting to P=11.37 billion,
P=11.26 billion and P=10.35 billion, net of trade and pick-up discounts of P=2.59 billion,
P=2.53 billion and P=2.20 billion, respectively.

Tolling Revenues
Revenue from tolling services is recognized when the service has been rendered.

Interest Income
Interest income from bank deposits and short-term investments is recognized as it accrues using
the effective interest rate (EIR) method.
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Other Income
 Other income is recognized when there are incidental economic benefits, other than the usual

business operations, that will flow to the Group and that can be measured reliably.  Sale of scrap
materials and cullets is recognized as revenue upon delivery of the items and transfer of control to
the buyer.

Cost and Expense Recognition
Costs and expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form
of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity,
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants.  Cost and expenses are generally
recognized when the expense arises following the accrual basis of accounting.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales, which comprise mainly of purchases of raw materials and related production cost,
are recognized on a monthly basis in relation with the recognition of the related revenue arising
from the sale.

Cost of Services
Cost of services which mainly pertain to the cost of tolling services rendered to Asiawide Kalbe
Philippines, Inc. (AKPI) is recognized when the cost is incurred.

Selling and Marketing Expenses
Selling and marketing expenses consist of costs associated with the development and execution of
marketing promotion activities and all expenses connected with selling, servicing and distributing
Group products.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses are incurred in the normal course of business and are
generally recognized when the services are used or the expenses arise.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three
months or less from the date of placement and that are subject of an insignificant risk of change in
value.

Short-term Investment
Short-term investment pertains to bank time deposit with more than three (3) months but within
one year, and earns interest at the respective short-term investment rates.

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  In the case of a regular
way purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, is done
using trade date accounting.

Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration given (in the case
of an asset) or received (in the case of a liability).  The initial measurement of financial
instruments, except for those classified as at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), includes
transaction costs.
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The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL,
held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale (AFS)
financial assets.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities as financial liabilities at FVPL and
other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired or liabilities incurred and whether they are quoted in an active market.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every financial
reporting date.  As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Group has no AFS financial assets,
financial assets at FVPL, HTM financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or
a component that is a financial liability are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity, net of any
related income tax benefits.

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market.

Loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value, which normally pertains to the billable
amount.  After initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using
the EIR method, less allowance for impairment losses.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.  The
amortization, if any, is included in interest income under “Interest income” account in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  The losses arising from impairment of
receivables are recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income under
“General and administrative expenses” account.  The level of allowance for impairment losses is
evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of accounts (see
accounting policy on Impairment of Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost).

They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not
classified as financial assets held for trading, designated as AFS financial assets or designated as
at FVPL.  This accounting policy relates to the Group’s “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Trade and
other receivables”, which arise primarily from sale of goods, short-term investment under “Other
current assets” and security deposits under “Other non-current assets” accounts in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets when they are expected to be realized within
twelve months from the reporting date or within the normal operating cycle, whichever is longer.
Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

Other Financial Liabilities
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not designated as at
FVPL upon the inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising from operations (e.g.
payables, accruals).

Other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and are subsequently carried at
amortized cost taking into account the impact of applying the EIR method of amortization (or
accretion) for any related premium, discount and any directly attributable transaction costs.
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Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-denominated liabilities, if any, are recognized in
“Foreign exchange gain - net” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Other financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities when they are expected to be settled
within 12 months from the reporting date or when the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months from reporting date.  Otherwise, they are classified as noncurrent
liabilities.

This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s “Trade and other payables”, “Short-term
loans payable”, “Dividends payable” and other obligations that meet the above definition (other
than liabilities covered by other accounting standards, such as income tax payable and retirement
benefits liability).

Impairment of Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired.  A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has or have occurred after
initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial asset that can be reliably
estimated.  Objective evidence of impairment may include indications that borrower is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency reorganization and where
observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as charges in arrear or economic condition that correlate with default.

The Group first assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, and collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is
collectively assessed for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on receivables carried at amortized cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).  The carrying amount of the asset shall be
reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account.  The amount of the loss shall
be recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In relation to receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence
(such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice.
Impaired receivables are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.
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Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial Asset
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognized when:
1. the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;
2. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation

to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or,

3. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
“pass-through” arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial Liability
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognized amount and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories
 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV).  Cost is determined

using the weighted-average method and includes expenditures incurred in bringing the materials
and supplies to their existing location and condition.  NRV is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Any write-down of materials, supplies, spare parts and finished goods to NRV is recognized as an
expense in consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year incurred.

Containers (i.e returnable bottles, pallets and shells) included under inventories, are stated at
deposit value, which is the estimated salvage value of the containers at the end of the estimated
trip life.

The Group provided allowance for inventory losses on unusable containers in circulation that
failed to meet the Group’s quality standards and excess bottles as determined by management
based on the containers profiling analysis conducted by the Group.  The Group provides allowance
for inventory losses on finished goods and raw materials whenever utility of inventories becomes
lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels or
other causes.
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Investment in a Joint Venture
A joint venture is a type joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of an
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.  Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those necessary to determine
control over subsidiaries.

Under the equity method, the interest is initially recognized at cost.  The carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognize the Group’s share of the profits and losses of the joint venture
after the date of the acquisition.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the Group’s share of the results of
operations of the joint venture.  Any change in OCI of the joint venture is presented as part of the
Group’s OCI.  In addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in equity of the joint
venture, the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity.  Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture.  If
the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the
Group discontinues its share of further losses.

The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group.  When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize
an impairment loss on its interests in joint ventures.  At each reporting date, the Group determines
whether there is objective evidence that the interest in joint venture is impaired.  If there is such
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, then recognizes the loss as “Share
in net income/losses of a joint venture” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognizes any retained
investment at its fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon
loss of joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

Customers Deposit Liability
Customers deposit liability consists of cash deposit received by the Group associated with the
returnable containers (i.e., beverage bottles) upon sale of product.  The cash deposit is paid back to
customers upon return of returnable containers.

Deferred Pallets and Containers
The Group purchases returnable containers (i.e. beverage bottles) that are being circulated in the
normal course of trade.  The containers are initially recorded at cost, net of salvage value of the
containers at the end of estimated trip life (see accounting policy on Inventories).  These
containers are presented as “Deferred pallets and containers” in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and are carried at cost, net of an estimated salvage value less accumulated
amortization and any impairment in value.  They are amortized over four (4) years representing
the trip life of the containers.  Amortization of “Deferred pallets and containers” is included under
“Cost of sales and services” account in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Amortization of bottles, shells and pallets commences once they are available for use over the
estimated useful life of four years (see Note 3 for the change in estimated useful life of deferred
containers).  An allowance is provided for excess, unusable and obsolete returnable bottles and
cases based on the specific identification method.

 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation,
depletion and any impairment in value.  Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value.

 The initial cost of property, plant and equipment consists of construction cost, and its purchase
price, including import duties and nonrefundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to the location and condition for its intended use.  Subsequent costs that can
be measured reliably are added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group.  The costs of day-to-day
servicing of an asset are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

 Each part of an item of property and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total
cost of the item is depreciated separately.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of each asset less its residual value over its estimated useful life.

The average estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Category Number of Years
Building 15-20
Machinery and equipment 10
Vehicles 5
Waste water facility 2-5
Leasehold improvements 5 or lease term, whichever is shorter
Laboratory equipment 2
Tools 3
Office and other equipment 2-3

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the periods and
method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items
of property, plant and equipment.

When assets are disposed of, or are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefits are expected from their disposals, the cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, if any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss arising from the
retirement or disposal is recognized in statement of comprehensive income.  Fully depreciated
property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use.

Construction in progress under “Property, plant and equipment” is stated at cost.  This includes
cost of construction, equipment and other direct costs.  Construction in progress is not depreciated
until such time the relevant assets are completed and are available for use.

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Property, plant and equipment and deferred pallets and containers are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable.  If any such indication exists and where the carrying amount of an asset
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exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset or cash generating unit (CGU) is written down
to its recoverable amount.  The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost
to sell and value in use.  The fair value less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an
asset in an arm’s length transaction less the costs of disposal while value in use is the present
value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from
its disposal at the end of its useful life.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the non-financial asset.  For an
asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the estimated recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.  Impairment losses are recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.  The Group used value in use to assess the recoverable amount
of an asset.

Recovery of impairment losses recognized in prior years is recorded when there is an indication
that the impairment losses recognized for the asset no longer exist or have decreased.  The
recovery is recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  However, the
increased carrying amount of an asset due to a recovery of an impairment loss is recognized to the
extent it does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for that asset in prior years.

Input Value-Added Tax (VAT)
Input VAT represents VAT imposed to the Group by its suppliers for the acquisition of goods and
services as required by the Philippine taxation laws and regulations.

Input taxes under “Other current assets” account is stated at its estimated NRV and will be used to
offset against the Group’s output VAT liabilities.  Output VAT is the amount of VAT calculated
and charged on the Group’s own sale of goods and services to third parties.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense
relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, net
of any reimbursement.

Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.  When the shares are
sold at premium the difference between the proceeds and the par value is credited to “Additional
paid-in capital”.

Retained Earnings
Retained earnings represent all accumulated profits or losses of the Group and dividend
distributions, if any, to shareholders of the Parent Company and other capital adjustments.
Dividends for the year that are approved after the financial reporting date are dealt with as an
event after the financial reporting date.
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Leases
Determination of Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the
asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

(a) There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;
(b) A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or

extension was initially included in the lease term;
(c) There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specific asset;

or
(d) There is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gives rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at
the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

Operating Leases - The Group as a Lessee
Operating leases represent those leases under which substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets remain with the lessors.  Lease payments under an operating lease
are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Provisions
Provisions are generally recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as an interest expense.

 Retirement Benefits Liability
 The net defined benefit liability or asset is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit

obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any),
adjusted for any effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling.  The asset ceiling
is the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method.

Defined benefit costs comprise the following:
• Service cost
• Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset
• Remeasurements of net defined benefit liability or asset



- 16 -

*SGVFS023439*

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-
routine settlements are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.  Past service costs are recognized when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability or asset that arises from the passage of time which is determined by
applying the discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds to the net defined benefit liability
or asset.  Net interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset is recognized as expense or
income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets and any change in
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net interest on defined benefit liability) are recognized
immediately in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Remeasurements
are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.  These are retained in other
comprehensive income until full settlement of the obligation.

Foreign Currency-denominated Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using
the rate of exchange at the reporting date.  Foreign exchange differences between rate at
transaction date and rate at settlement date or reporting date are recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.  Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial
transactions.

Income Taxes
Current Income Tax
Current income tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be paid to the tax authority.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount
are those that have been enacted or substantively enacted as at the reporting date.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred income tax
assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward benefit of unused tax
credits to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at
each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date.
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Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing income applicable to common shares by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year with retroactive adjustments for
stock dividends.  Diluted EPS is computed in the same manner as basic EPS, however, net
income attributable to common shares and the weighted average number of shares outstanding
are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares.

Contingently issuable ordinary shares are ordinary shares issuable for little or no cash or other
consideration upon the satisfaction of specified conditions in a contingent share agreement.
Contingently issuable shares are treated as outstanding and are included in the calculation of
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per only from the date when all necessary
conditions are satisfied (i.e. the events have occurred).  If the conditions are not satisfied, the
number of contingently issuable shares included in the diluted earnings per share calculation is
based on the number of shares that would be issuable if the end of the period were the end of the
contingency period.

Segment Reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment subject to risks and rewards that
are different from those of other segments, which operating results are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about how resources are to be allocated to each
of the segments and to assess their performances, and for which discrete financial information is
available.  Financial information on segment reporting is presented in Note 25.

Events After the Reporting Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at
the end of the reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
consolidated financial statements when material.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires the
Group to make judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial statements
and related notes.  Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at
the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in estimates are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements as they become reasonably determinable.

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.
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Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the judgment
below, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Identifying a Business Combination
The Group determines whether a transaction or an event is a purchase of a business or purchase of
an asset by applying PFRS 3 which provides the definition of a business.

The Group has determined that the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the asset purchase
transaction entered into on January 31, 2014 constitute a business (see Note 1).  The assets
acquired are substantially all the operating assets of Asiawide and Mega Asia used in the
manufacturing, bottling and distributing operations and the liabilities assumed are those incurred
in the normal course of business.

Determining Operating Lease Commitments - The Group as Lessee
The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements as a lessee.  The Group has
determined that, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the
lessor retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties because the lease
agreements do not transfer to the Group the ownership over the assets at the end of the lease term
and do not provide the Group with a bargain purchase option over the leased assets and so
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.  Rent expense charged to current operation
amounted to P=329.61 million, P=345.20 million and P=321.03 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Notes 14 and 15).

Estimates and Assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimating Useful Life of Deferred Pallets and Containers
In accordance with its policy, the Company periodically reviews the estimated useful life of the
deferred pallets and containers based on the containers profiling and scuff level analysis.  The
estimation of useful life is based on internal technical evaluation done on a collective basis and the
Group’s experience with similar assets.  A review in 2014 indicated that the actual trip lives of the
containers were longer than 2013 estimate.  As a result, effective February 1, 2014, in view of the
change in the expected pattern of economic benefits from the assets, the Group revised its estimate
of the useful life of its containers from three years to four years.

The Group recognized amortization expense amounting to P=816.23 million, P=639.85 million
and P=479.65 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  The carrying value of deferred pallets
and containers as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to P=1,910.05 million and
P=2,025.16 million, respectively (see Note 9).

Estimating Impairment Losses on Inventories
The Group maintains allowance for inventory losses at a level considered adequate to reflect the
cost of materials and supplies over its NRV.  The Group recognizes materials and supplies at NRV
whenever NRV becomes lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence,
changes in price levels or other causes.  Increase in the NRV of materials and supplies will
increase cost of materials and supplies but only to the extent of their original acquisition costs.
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As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the carrying amounts of inventories, net of allowance for
inventory obsolescence, amounted to P=2,057.40 million and P=1,918.85 million, respectively
(see Note 6).

Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over
which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates based on factors that include asset utilization, internal technical evaluation,
technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of the assets tempered by related
industry benchmark information.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be
materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.
The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in
these factors and circumstances.

The Group recognized depreciation expense amounting to P=272.54 million and P=262.60 million
in 2016 and 2015, respectively.  The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
excluding construction-in-progress, amounted to P=1,118.32 million and P=1,062.87 million as at
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 8).

Estimating Salvage Value of Deferred Pallets and Containers
In determining the estimated salvage value of deferred pallets and containers, management takes
into account the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made.  The salvage
value is equal to the amount the Group would receive currently if the assets were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of estimated trip life.

The deposit values of deferred pallets and containers are reviewed periodically and are updated if
expectations differ from previous estimates based on factors that include asset utilization, internal
technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and anticipated use of the assets
tempered by related industry benchmark information.

Estimating Retirement Benefits Cost
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and the present value of the pension obligation are
determined using actuarial valuation.  An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions
that may differ from actual developments in the future.  These include the determination of the
discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the
complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions.  All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting
date.  These assumptions are described in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s retirement liability amounted to P=2.05 million and P=93.32 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Retirement benefit cost amounted to P=20.79 million,
P=36.82 million and P=32.01 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively (see Note 20).

Estimating Realizability of Deferred Tax Assets
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each reporting date and reduces
the amounts to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
in the future to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized.  The Group’s assessment
on the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences is based on
forecasted taxable income.  This forecast is based on the Group’s past results and future
expectations on revenues and expenses.
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The Group has deferred tax assets amounting to P=26.52 million and P=34.02 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 21).

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2016 2015
Cash on hand and with banks P=931,411,832 P=658,548,022
Cash equivalents 951,983,569 394,626,882

P=1,883,395,401 P=1,053,174,904

Cash with banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents consist of
short-term placements which are made for varying periods of up to three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the prevailing short-term placement
rates.

Cash deposits with maturities of more than three months but less than one year are classified as
short-term investments under “Other current assets”.

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments amounted to
P=12.42 million, P=8.11 million and P=36.82 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

5. Trade and Other Receivables

2016 2015
Trade P=315,735,839 P=276,873,491
Due from related parties (see Note 18) 70,044,183 68,090,870
Receivables from officers and employees 17,584,385 12,348,873
Others 12,866,589 14,317,218

416,230,996 371,630,452
Less allowance for impairment losses on receivables 1,091,432 1,233,310

P=415,139,564 P=370,397,142

“Trade receivables” are non-interest bearing and are generally on 7 to 60 days term.

“Receivables from officers and employees” represent loans, cash advances and other receivables
from employees.

“Others” consist of interest receivable, advances to contractors and external receivables from other
companies, among others.  Interest receivable as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to
P=1.92 million and P=0.42 million, respectively.

 The balance and movements of allowance for probable losses on trade receivables are as follows:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=1,233,310 P=2,169,999
Provision − 732,160
Write-off against allowance (141,878) (1,668,849)
Balance at end of year P=1,091,432 P=1,233,310
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6. Inventories

2016 2015
Inventories at NRV:
Containers and pallets - on hand P=711,188,318 P=668,743,595
Inventories at cost:
Containers and pallets - in trade 607,160,076 509,934,779
Raw materials 399,897,908 399,810,788
Spare parts and supplies 233,298,391 233,044,823
Finished goods 105,853,386 107,313,825

P=2,057,398,079 P=1,918,847,810

The allowance for inventory obsolescence amounted P=3.16 million and P=2.26 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Provision for inventory obsolescence and
condemnation amounted to P=2.91 million, nil and P=11.56 million 2016, 2015 and 2014,
respectively (see Notes 14 and 15).  The Group wrote-off inventories amounting to P=2.02 million
in 2016 and nil in 2015 and 2014.

Cost of inventories sold recognized in the statements of comprehensive income amounted to
P=5,145.76 million, P=5,240.87 million and P=4,936.32 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively
(see Note 14).

7. Other Assets

2016 2015
Current:

Prepaid taxes and licenses P=38,330,287 P=15,571,060
Prepaid rent 18,080,379 14,581,718
Short-term investment 17,000,000 –
Prepaid insurance 11,951,604 12,220,128
Supplies 6,866,200 6,998,261
Prepaid vehicle registration 292,739 387,243
Others 7,905,969 5,863,445

100,427,178 55,621,855
Input VAT 73,887,896 84,130,524
Less: Output VAT (73,449,912) (84,035,833)

437,984 94,691
P=100,865,162 P=55,716,546

Noncurrent:
Security deposits P=350,349,197 P=350,349,197
Deferred input VAT 152,431,406 113,548,371
Deposits with suppliers 91,737,982 250,787,173
Others 4,697,231 10,221,554

P=599,215,816 P=724,906,295

“Prepaid taxes and licenses” pertains mainly to creditable withholding taxes.

“Prepaid rent” pertains to payments made in advance for rentals of billboard advertisements, staff
house and office rental covering a period of not more than one (1) year.
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“Short-term investment” pertains to bank time deposit with a maturity of one (1) year.

“Prepaid insurance” represents share in the Health Insurance coverage of the regular employees
which are amortized over the period of the contract.

“Security deposits” pertain to various rental deposits for the lease of land and building to Mega
Asia (lessor) which shall answer for any and all unpaid obligations of the Group to the lessor, as
well as for any damage to the leased premises at the end of lease term.

“Deposits with suppliers” pertain to advances to suppliers for acquisition of machinery and
equipment by the Group and advances made to brokers for the release of imported goods.

“Deferred input VAT” represents VAT imposed on the purchase of goods and services which are
expected to be realized beyond one (1) year from reporting date.

“Others” consist of other prepaid expense, accountable forms and computer supplies.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

2016

Land
Machinery and

Equipment Vehicles
Waste Water

Facility
Laboratory
Equipment Tools

Leasehold
Improvements

Office and
Other

Equipment
Construction in

progress Total
Cost:

Balances at beginning of year P=− P=1,296,036,936 P=781,703,962 P=24,437,693 P=19,892,242 P=17,329,530 P=23,231,894 P=89,070,638 P=119,242,730 P=2,370,945,625
Additions 64,603,887 223,539,937 18,838,758 2,547,017 1,921,228 5,060,458 1,038,820 10,435,072 141,395,008 469,380,185
Balances at end of year 64,603,887 1,519,576,873 800,542,720 26,984,710 21,813,470 22,389,988 24,270,714 99,505,710 260,637,738 2,840,325,810

Accumulated depreciation:
Balances at beginning of year − 644,870,459 434,646,764 17,601,033 17,445,330 14,961,339 645,728 58,661,318 − 1,188,831,971
Depreciation − 145,632,693 108,555,678 2,231,576 1,831,309 1,707,171 79,909 12,498,528 − 272,536,864
Balances at end of year − 790,503,152 543,202,442 19,832,609 19,276,639 16,668,510 725,637 71,159,846 − 1,461,368,835

Net book values P=64,603,887 P=729,073,721 P=257,340,278 P=7,152,101 P=2,536,831 P=5,721,478 P=23,545,077 P=28,345,863 P=260,637,738 P=1,378,956,975

2015
Machinery and

Equipment Vehicles
Waste Water

Facility
Laboratory
Equipment Tools

Leasehold
Improvements

Office and Other
Equipment

Construction in
progress Total

Cost:
Balances at beginning of year  P=1,183,106,986 P=663,570,516 P=21,735,320 P=18,271,643 P=15,478,873 P=23,231,894 P=58,671,049 P=− P=1,984,066,281
Additions 112,929,950 118,133,446 2,702,373 1,620,599 1,850,657 − 30,399,589 119,242,730 386,879,344
Balances at end of year  1,296,036,936 781,703,962 24,437,693 19,892,242 17,329,530 23,231,894 89,070,638 119,242,730 2,370,945,625

Accumulated depreciation:
Balances at beginning of year 495,247,098 337,172,106 15,470,754 15,570,297 13,281,227 645,728 48,844,791 − 926,232,001
Depreciation 149,623,361 97,474,658 2,130,279 1,875,033 1,680,112 − 9,816,527 − 262,599,970
Balances at end of year 644,870,459 434,646,764 17,601,033 17,445,330 14,961,339 645,728 58,661,318 − 1,188,831,971

Net book values  P=651,166,477 P=347,057,198 P=6,836,660 P=2,446,912 P=2,368,191 P=22,586,166 P=30,409,320 P=119,242,730 P=1,182,113,654

Fully depreciated assets with a cost of P=662.54 million and P=611.92 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, are still being used in the operations.

 Construction in progress account mainly pertains to accumulated costs in relation to the construction of a new production plant in Canlubang, Laguna.
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9. Deferred Pallets and Containers

2016

Containers Pallets Total
Cost:

Beginning balances P=6,293,451,294 P=42,833,438 P=6,336,284,732
Additions 681,076,154 20,039,579 701,115,733
Ending balances 6,974,527,448 62,873,017 7,037,400,465

Accumulated amortization:
Beginning balances 4,303,467,005 7,653,590 4,311,120,595
Amortization 803,384,899 12,848,058 816,232,957
Ending balances 5,106,851,904 20,501,648 5,127,353,552

Net book values P=1,867,675,544 P=42,371,369 P=1,910,046,913

2015

Containers Pallets Total
Cost:

Beginning balances P=5,270,684,656 P=8,592,625 P=5,279,277,281
Additions 1,022,766,638 34,240,813 1,057,007,451
Ending balances 6,293,451,294 42,833,438 6,336,284,732

Accumulated amortization:
Beginning balances 3,669,548,083 1,720,459 3,671,268,542
Amortization 633,918,922 5,933,131 639,852,053
Ending balances 4,303,467,005 7,653,590 4,311,120,595

Net book values P=1,989,984,289 P=35,179,848 P=2,025,164,137

Deferred pallets and containers arises from the difference of the containers acquisition cost, which
is the landed cost that includes the purchased cost plus the incidental cost of importation, less
deposit value of the containers and pallets (see Note 6).

10. Interest in a Joint Venture

In 2011, ARCHI entered into an agreement with Kalbe International Pte. Ltd, to establish a joint
venture entity to implement a project for (a) marketing and sale of energy drink in ready to drink
form bearing the "extra joss" mark (the product); (b) appointing a toll manufacturer to produce the
product; and (c) appointing a distributor to distribute the product, all within the Philippines.

The joint venture entity was incorporated as Asiawide Kalbe Philippines, Inc. (AKPI) which is
50% owned by ARCHI and 50% owned by Kalbe International Pte. Ltd.  Both companies will
share equal control and management over the operations of the incorporated Joint Venture entity.
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The rollforward analysis of investment in joint venture and accumulated equity in net income
(loss) of interest in joint venture follows:

2016 2015
Acquisition cost P=83,284,425 P=83,284,425
Accumulated equity in net earnings (loss):

Balance at beginning of year (41,665,261) (43,137,198)
Share in net income 491,875 1,471,937
Balance at end of year (41,173,386) (41,665,261)

P=42,111,039 P=41,619,164

The following table sets out the audited financial information of AKPI as of December 31
(in millions):

2016 2015
Total assets P=94.13 P=100.23
Total liabilities 33.63 40.72
Sales 35.90 39.33
Net income 0.98 2.94

11. Trade and Other Payables

2016 2015
Trade payables (see Note 18) P=1,078,409,923 P=1,450,553,923
Containers deposit liability 607,160,076 509,934,779
Due to related parties (see Note 18) 364,652,876 393,851,472
Output VAT payable 51,261,021 31,154,263
Non-trade payables 12,363,712 12,649,123
Accrued expenses:

Contracted services and professional fees 55,376,569 56,606,865
Advertising and promotions 45,663,805 37,801,783
Withholding taxes 25,643,695 17,454,153
Salaries and wages 10,759,030 9,777,271
Rent (see Notes 18 and 19) 5,418,610 14,805,709
Employee benefits 5,038,616 3,942,836
Utilities and facilities 4,813,639 9,576,456
Travel, meeting and entertainment 681,686 2,121,692
Others 34,882,763 31,552,561

P=2,302,126,021 P=2,581,782,886

“Trade payables” pertains to accounts payable to suppliers from purchases of materials and toll
packing used in production.  These are noninterest-bearing and with payment terms which are
dependent on the supplier’s credit terms, which is generally 30 to 90 days.

“Containers deposit liability” pertains to deposits made by its customer which are refundable after
return of bottles in good condition.

“Non-trade and other payables” pertains to all non-trade liabilities such as freight services and
administration expenses, among others.
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“Accrued expenses-others” pertain to accrued hauling expenses, accrued freight and handling
expenses, among others.

12. Short-Term Loans Payable

The Group obtained unsecured Letters of Credit (LC) with various banks for its international
purchases with terms ranging from 30 days to 3 months and with interest rate of 2.5% per annum.

In 2015, the Group obtained a short-term loan for working capital purposes payable within 6
months and with interest rate of 2.5% per annum amounting to P=500.00 million.  In 2016 and
2015, the Company paid P=450.00 million and P=50.00 million, respectively, of the loan outstanding
balance.  These are presented in the statements of cash flows as financing activities.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has outstanding short-term loans payable
amounting to P=125.78 million and P=497.44 million, respectively.  This includes outstanding loan
related to the Group’s international purchases of property, plant and equipment amounting to
P=94.65 million and P=47.19 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Cash flows
related to the availment of short-term loans for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
are presented in the statements of cash flows under investing activities.

Total interest expense related to these loans amounted to P=5.91 million, P=7.14 million and
P=7.21 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

13. Equity

Capital Stock
Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follow:

Common stock:
Authorized - P=1 par value P=1,300,000,000 P=1,300,000,000
Issued and outstanding P=1,068,393,223 P=1,068,393,223

Preferred stock:
Authorized - P=1,000 par value P=200,000,000 P=200,000,000
Issued and outstanding P=– P=–

The following are the salient features of the preferred stock:

a. Cumulative dividend at a rate to be determined solely by the BOD;
b. Nonparticipating in the retained earnings remaining after dividend payments have been made

on the preferred shares;
c. Redeemable at such price, within such period, in such manner and under such terms and

conditions as may be determined by the BOD; and
d. Non-voting.
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As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the equity holdings of the shareholder groups are as follows:

2016 2015

Shareholder Group
Number

of Shares
Percentage

of Ownership
Number

of Shares
Percentage

of Ownership
MCI 958,941,673 89.76% 958,941,673 89.76%
Public 109,451,550 10.24% 109,451,550 10.24%

1,068,393,223 100.00% 1,068,393,223 100.00%

On April 8, 2016, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the increase in authorized capital
stock by P=800 million through the increase of common shares by 800,000,000 shares with a par
value of P=1.  At the same time, the BOD approved the declaration of a stock dividend equivalent
to 21% of issued and outstanding common shares, amounting to P=224.36 million, to be issued out
of the aforementioned increase in authorized capital stock.  As of December 31, 2016, the
application for increase in authorized capital stock of the Parent Company is still for approval of
the SEC.  Accordingly, as of December 31, 2016, the shares have not yet been issued.

Retained Earnings

Dividends
MHI
On April 8, 2016, the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=0.12 per share for a total
amount of P=128.21 million in favor of stockholders on records as at April 29, 2016.  Cash
dividends amounting to P=126.58 million were paid on May 20, 2016.

On April 8, 2015, the Parent Company declared dividends of P=1.45 per share for a total amount of
P=1,549.17 million in favor of stockholders on records as at April 27, 2015.  The cash dividend was
paid on May 15, 2015.

On June 26, 2014, the Parent Company declared cash dividend of P=1.35 per share totaling
P=1,442.33 million.  The cash dividend was paid on July 24, 2014.  The dividend declaration
reduced to consolidated equity through a charge against equity reserve amounting to
P=1,441.45 million, representing the retained earnings of the Parent Company as of the date when
the entities became under common control.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Parent Company has outstanding dividends payable to its
shareholders related to previous year’s declaration amounting to P=2.58 million and P=0.95 million

 ARCRC
On April 8, 2016, ARCRC declared and paid cash dividends of P=0.8 per share totaling to
P=352.57 million.  In 2015, ARCRC declared and paid dividends amounting P=1,584.00 million at
P=3.60 per share.

 ARCHI
On May 28, 2015 and August 12, 2015, ARCHI declared cash dividends amounting to
P=34.01 million and P=7.65 million, respectively, payable to shareholders prior to the acquisition of
ARCHI by the Parent Company.  In 2015, ARCHI made payment to previous shareholders
amounting to P=19.46 million.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, balances of P=22.19 million and
P=21.24 million remain unpaid to previous shareholders, respectively.
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Appropriations of Retained Earnings
On April 8, 2016, the stockholders and BOD approved the appropriation of retained earnings
amounting to P=1,052.04 million for future business expansion which is expected to materialize in
5 years.

Securities Regulation Code Rule (SRC) Disclosures
Incorporation
Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation (“AOI”) in 1930, as reconstructed after the loss of
documents during the Second World War, the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock was
P=40,000, divided into 400 shares with par value of P=100 per share.  Its principal stockholder then
was Mariano C. Mercado who owned 96 common shares.  Other private stockholders owned 4
common shares.

Parent Company listing
The Parent Company listed its shares, with the stock symbol “PTR” in the Manila Stock Exchange
and the Makati Stock Exchange on January 28, 1987 following BOD approval of the listing on
November 5, 1986.  Upon the merger of the two exchanges into the PSE in 1992, the Parent
Company signed a listing agreement with PSE for its shares to be listed and traded on the unified
exchange also as PTR.

Amendments to the authorized capital stock
Subsequent to the Parent Company filing its AOI in 1930, the Parent Company made the
following amendments on its authorized capital stock:

Year
Authorized Capital
Stock Composition Par Value

1939 (a) P=200,000 2,000 common shares P=100
1957 (b) P=12,000,000 1,200,000 common shares P=10
1966 P=30,000,000 3,000,000 common shares P=10
1973 P=60,000,000 6,000,000 common shares P=10
1977 P=100,000,000 10,000,000 common shares P=10
1984 P=110,000,000 11,000,000 common shares P=10
1987 P=200,000,000 20,000,000 common shares; later divided

into 12,000,000 Class “A” common shares
and 8,000,000 Class “B” common shares

P=10

1989 P=360,000,000 21,600,000 Class “A” common shares and
14,400,000 Class “B” common shares

P=10

1994 P=700,000,000 divided
into P=500,000,000
common capital and
P=200,000,000 preferred
capital (c)

32,400,000 Class “A” common shares and
17,600,000 Class “B” common shares;
200,000 preferred shares

P=10 - common;
P=1,000 -
preferred

2001 P=250,000,000 divided
into P=50,000,000
common capital and
P=200,000,000 preferred
capital

32,400,000 Class “A” common shares and
17,600,000 Class “B” common shares;
200,000 preferred shares

P=1 - common;
P=1,000 -
preferred

2002 P=300,000,000 divided
into P=100,000,000
common capital and
P=200,000,000 preferred
capital

62,400,000 Class “A” common shares and
37,600,000 Class “B” common shares
(later declassified into 100,000,000
authorized common capital);  200,000
preferred shares

P=1 - common;
P=1,000 -
preferred
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Year
Authorized Capital
Stock Composition Par Value

2003 P=1,300,000,000
divided into
P=1,100,000,000
common capital and
P=200,000,000 preferred
capital

1,100,000,000 common shares; 200,000
preferred shares

P=1 - common;
P=1,000 -
preferred

2010 P=1,500,000,000
divided into
P=1,300,000,000
common capital and
P=200,000,000 preferred
capital

1,300,000,000 common shares; 200,000
preferred shares

P=1 - common;
P=1,000 -
preferred

(a) Based on a reconstruction of records, including the AOI, in 1948
(b) Existing shareholders were issued 150 shares with par value of P=10 for each share with par value of P=100 they

already held through a stock dividend
(c) The creation of the preferred shares of stock was approved by the BOD in its regular meeting on March 18, 1993 and

by the shareholders at the annual shareholders’ meeting on April 30, 1993.  It was subsequently approved by the SEC
on January 11, 1994.

 Track record of subsequent offerings
Below is a summarized discussion of the Parent Company’s track record of registration of
securities under the SRC:

Number of shares after
 offering

Year
Date of SEC

approval
Type of
offering

Number of
shares offered

Par
value

Offer
price Authorized

Issued and
outstanding

2003 April 24, 2003 Rights with
warrants offer

     499,997,540 P=1.00   P=2.00 1,100,000,000    599,997,048
99,999,508(d) 629,997,412(g)

99,999,508(e) P=1.00 P=2.00(f) 652,477,229(h)

2008 November 24, 2008 Rights offer 296,775,950 P=1.00 P=2.10(f) 1,100,000,000 989,253,179
(d) Warrants
(e) Underlying common shares
(f) Exercise price
(g) After exercise of warrants in 2004
(h) After exercise of warrants in 2005

14. Cost of Sales and Services

2016 2015 2014
Materials (see Note 6) P=5,145,759,412 P=5,240,873,188 P=4,936,324,246
Depreciation and amortization
 (see Notes 8 and 9) 978,083,320 802,190,669 609,684,913
Direct labor 347,946,153 345,397,906 336,001,481
Personnel expenses and outside

services 210,588,662 189,889,881 195,830,681
Rent (see Note 19) 202,820,333 219,074,036 210,818,274
Toll packing 141,778,229 106,192,582 60,580,906
Specialty contractor (see Note 18b) 120,000,000 120,000,000 154,000,000
Repairs and maintenance 110,928,755 98,446,724 83,072,129
Gas and utilities 31,487,926 36,416,955 48,936,215
Provision for inventory

obsolescence and
condemnation (see Note 6) 852,144 − 2,259,248

Others 137,530,138 126,554,046 52,477,548
P=7,427,775,072 P=7,285,035,987 P=6,689,985,641
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 “Others” consists of personnel development expenses, insurance and association and membership
fees, among others.

15. Selling and Marketing Expenses

2016 2015 2014
Advertising P=267,115,192 P=301,405,968 P=236,688,444
Outside services 172,580,897 152,863,434 123,991,113
Rent (see Note 19) 126,789,675 126,121,566 110,208,524
Salaries, wages and benefits 116,151,874 110,491,701 101,295,950
Depreciation (see Note 8) 97,622,420 89,413,978 69,938,805
Hauling and loading 58,694,239 41,775,722 38,679,340
Promotions and commissions 53,821,229 49,706,845 34,666,170
Gas, oil and fuel 49,646,332 61,267,489 82,866,005
Repairs and utilities 45,308,260 41,278,825 40,917,803
Travel, transportation and

entertainment 36,067,378 38,998,673 36,017,340
Taxes, licenses and registrations 7,250,187 4,330,545 3,628,348
Provision for inventory

obsolescence and
condemnation (see Note 6) 2,061,603 – 9,302,844

Others 97,230,684 65,034,477 56,847,856
P=1,130,339,970 P=1,082,689,223 P=945,048,542

“Others” consist of toll and market fees, freight and handling fees and entertainment and
recreation expenses, among others.

16. General and Administrative Expenses

2016 2015 2014
Salaries, wages and benefits P=174,789,606 P=164,023,857 P=158,128,216
Contracted services and

professional fees 68,936,254 70,487,830 55,467,361
Meetings and entertainment 21,689,585 19,528,165 17,779,953
Repairs and utilities 19,165,977 19,414,989 17,860,209
Supplies and transportation 13,379,094 12,345,396 9,320,853
Depreciation (see Note 8) 13,064,081 10,847,376 8,817,698
Taxes, licenses and registrations 2,786,711 24,049,205 28,761,374
Others 15,584,546 29,511,400 14,759,103

P=329,395,854 P=350,208,218 P=310,894,767

“Others” consist of donations, rentals and miscellaneous expenses, among others.
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17. Others - net

2016 2015 2014
Sale of scrap materials and cullets P=31,261,666 P=30,272,409 P=28,539,512
Reversal on (loss from) write-off

of CWTs – 9,736,529 (9,736,529)
Others 5,350,027 6,326,359 996,340

P=36,611,693 P=46,335,297 P=19,799,323

Sale of scrap materials and cullets is presented net of selling costs.
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18. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operational decisions.  Parties are considered to be related if they are subject to common control and common significant influence.  Related parties
may be individuals or corporate entities.  Transactions with related parties are based on terms agreed to by the parties.

 Outstanding balances of transactions with related parties are set out below:

Category Year Revenues Interest Income
Costs and
Expenses

Cash and cash
equivalents

Trade and other
receivables

Due from
related parties

(see Note 5)

Trade
and other

payables

Due to
related parties

(see Note 11) Terms Conditions
Entities under common control:

Asiawide (see Note 18a)

2016 P=– P=– P=16,756,020 P=– P=– P=1,168,876 P=– P=4,655,706 Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable
No impairment;

Unsecured2015 P=– P=– P=16,756,020 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=39,077,715

Bev-pack Inc. (Bev-pack, see Note 18c) 2016 – – 259,055,791 – – 27,483 106,918,944 – Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable
No impairment;

Unsecured2015 – – 253,442,354 – – – 134,308,874 –

Solmac Marketing Inc. (Solmac; see Note 18e) 2016 – – 4,692,300 – – – – – Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable

Unsecured

2015 – – 4,713,473 – – – 1,255,535 –

SMI Development Corporation (SMI; see Note 18f) 2016 – – 6,660,384 – – – – 1,726,334 Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable Unsecured2015 – – 6,660,384 – – – 593,413 526,840

AKPI (see Note 18g)

2016 3,958,626 – – – – 9,783,118 – 25,453,856 Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable
No impairment;

Unsecured2015 4,288,700 – – – – 11,004,959 – 27,351,403

Philippine Business Bank (PBB;  see Note 18h) 2016 – 11,286,653 – 938,646,342 – – – –
2015 – 6,645,244 – 685,463,530 – – – –

(Forward)
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Category Year Revenues Interest Income
Costs and
Expenses

Cash and cash
equivalents

Trade and other
receivables

Due from
related parties

(see Note 5)

Trade
and other

payables

Due to
related parties

(see Note 11) Terms Conditions
Stockholder:
Zest-O (see Note 18d) 2016 P=21,147,694 P=– P=274,324,097 P=– P=139,180,746 P=58,626,096 P=– P=153,955,201 Noninterest

bearing; due and
demandable

No impairment;
Unsecured2015 P=27,212,036 P=– P=315,773,909 P=– P=175,532,352 P=42,479,970 P=– P=180,561,229

Mega Asia (see Note 18b) 2016 – – 295,787,902 – – 438,610 – 178,861,779 Noninterest
bearing; due and

demandable
No impairment;

Unsecured2015 – – 295,787,902 – – 14,605,941 – 146,334,285

2016 P=25,106,320 P=11,286,653 P=857,276,494 P=938,646,342 P=139,180,746 P=70,044,183 P=106,918,944 P=364,652,876
2015 P=31,500,736 P=6,645,244 P=893,134,042 P=685,463,530 P=175,532,352 P=68,090,870 P=136,157,822 P=393,851,472

a. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Asiawide for the use of its land and building situated in Sitio Puting Bato, Antipolo Rizal.  Total rent
expense amounted to P=16.76 million in 2016 and 2015 (see Note 19).

ARC Refreshments obtained advances from Asiawide for the payment of import duties related to the importation of bottles.

b. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreements with Mega Asia for the use of its land and building situated in Pampanga, Pangasinan, Isabela, Davao and
Misamis Oriental.  Total rental expense amounted to P=175.79 million in 2016 and 2015.  Mega Asia also provides professional services in all plants except Antipolo.
Under the agreement, ARC Refreshments shall pay a fixed monthly service fee of P=14.00 million starting February 1, 2014.  Effective January 1, 2015, fixed
monthly service fee was reduced to P=10.00 million per month (see Note 14).

ARC Refreshments made advances to Mega Asia in relation to the payment of bunker fuel oil in Canlubang, Laguna.  Outstanding receivables as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 amounted to P=0.43 million and P=14.61 million, respectively.

c. Bev-pack is a supplier of caps for ARC Refreshments' production of 800 ml bottled softdrinks.  Total purchases made amounted to P=259.06 million and
P=253.44 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Purchases are covered with approved Purchase Order form based on the projected requirements of production.

d. On February 1, 2015, ARC Refreshments entered into various lease agreements with Zest-O for the use of its land and building facilities, and bottling equipment in
Kaybiga, Novaliches and Canlubang, Laguna.  Total rent expense amounted to P=94.93 million and P=116.37 million, in 2016 and 2015, respectively (see Note 19).

On February 1, 2014, ARC Refreshments also purchased various machinery and equipment from Zest-O.  The total amount of consideration is P=53.28 million.  Total
outstanding payable as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to P=153.96 million and P=180.56 million, respectively.
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Zest-O has tolling arrangements with the Group as a Contract Packer and Filler for carbonated
beverages in PET bottles.  Total tolling expense amounted to P=13.27 million and
P=11.84 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Zest-O billed the Group for its share in administrative expenses amounting to P=138.65 million
and P=118.42 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Zest-O has a supply agreement with the Group for gas, oil and fuel and other materials such as
bottles, cartons and tin cans associated with the tolling agreement with Zest-O.  Total
purchases amounted to P=27.47 million and P=69.14 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Zest-O is a distributor of ARC Refreshments’ one-way products polyethylene terephthalate
bottles (PET) and cans in supermarkets and convenience stores.  Zest-O enjoys a maximum
discount of 17% of Gross Wholesale Price.  Total revenue amounted to P=21.15 million and
P=27.21 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

e. Solmac is the owner of the building where the corporate office of the Group is located.  The
Group occupies 12 units with an average rental of P=260.25 per sq. meter.  Total rent expense
amounted to P=4.69 million and P=4.13 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Solmac is also the supplier of labels and cartons used in one-way products as well as some
marketing materials.  Total purchases amounted to nil and P=0.20 million in 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

f. On February 1, 2014, ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with SMI for the use
of its 16,398 sq. meter land in Antipolo.  Total rent expense amounted to P=6.66 million in
2016 and 2015.

g. ARC Refreshments was contracted to be the toll manufacturer of AKPI for its carbonated
beverages starting February 1, 2014.  Under the terms of the agreement, AKPI shall pay a
variable fee per case of finished goods produced and delivered.  Total tolling revenue earned
in 2016 and 2015 amounted to P=3.96 million and P=4.29 million, respectively.

ARC Refreshments obtained advances from AKPI for expenditures related to the production
and distribution of the energy drink “EXTRA JOSS”.

h. The Group has cash and cash equivalents with PBB.

i. The compensation of key management personnel are as follows:

2016 2015 2014
Salaries and wages P=29,577,911 P=23,734,401 P=17,569,280
Allowances and benefits 1,791,740 1,934,791 1,484,500

P=31,369,651 P=25,669,192 P=19,053,780
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19. Lease Agreements

Lease Agreements with Mega Asia

a. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Mega Asia, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located in Pampanga.  The lease shall be for three (3) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017 and further extended to
January 31, 2020 in 2017.  Rental security deposit amounted to P=28.62 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 7).  Rent expense amounted to P=27.36 million
in 2016 and 2015 and P=25.08 million in 2014.

b. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Mega Asia, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located in Cagayan de Oro.  The lease shall be for three (3)
years commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017 and further extended to
January 31, 2020 in 2017.  Rental security deposit amounted to P=101.50 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 7).  Rent expense amounted to P=33.20 million in 2016
and 2015 and P=30.43 million in 2014.

c. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Mega Asia, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located in Pangasinan.  The lease shall be for three (3) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017 and further extended to
January 31, 2020.  Rental security deposit amounted to P=72.05 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 7).  Rent expense amounted to P=46.64 million in 2016
and 2015 and P=42.75 million in 2014.

d. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Mega Asia, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located in Isabela.  The lease shall be for three (3) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017 and further extended to
January 31, 2020.  Rental security deposit amounted to P=43.60 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015 (see Note 7).  Rent expense amounted to P=31.66 million
in 2016 and 2015 and P=29.02 million in 2014.

e. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Mega Asia, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located in Davao.  The lease shall be for three (3) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017 and further extended to
January 31, 2020.  Rental security deposit amounted to P=104.58 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015.  Rent expense amounted to P=36.94 million in 2016 and 2015
and P=33.86 million in 2014.

The above lease agreements require ARC Refreshments to pay rental security deposits, which are
included under “Security deposits” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Rental security deposits amounted to P=350.35 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015
(see Note 7).

Lease Agreements with Zest-O

a. On February 1, 2014, ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a
related party, covering a piece of land and building on which the manufacturing plant and
administrative office of ARC Refreshments are located in Kaybiga, Novaliches, Quezon City.
The lease is for a period of three (3) years up to 2017, renewable for mutual consent.  In 2017,
it was further extended until 2020.  Rent expense amounted P=27.86 million in 2016 and 2015
and P=25.54 million in 2014.
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b. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a related party, for a lease of
bottling equipment in Kaybiga, Novaliches, Quezon City.  The lease shall be for four (4) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2018, renewable by mutual consent.  In
2017, it was further extended until 2020.  Rent expense amounted to P=17.36 million in 2016
and 2015 and P=15.91 million in 2014.

c. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a related party, for a lease of
bottling equipment in Kaybiga, Novaliches, Quezon City.  The lease shall be for two (2) years
commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2016, renewable by mutual consent.  In
2017, it was further extended until 2020.  Rent expense amounted to P=1.04 million,
P=12.47 million and P=11.43 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

d. On February 1, 2014, ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a
related party, covering a piece of land and building on which the manufacturing plant and
administrative office of ARC Refreshments are located in 108 Progressive Avenue Carmelray
Industrial Park, Brgy. Canlubang, Calamba, Laguna.  The lease is for a period of three (3)
years up to 2017, renewable by mutual consent.  In 2017, it was further extended until 2020.
Rent expense amounted to P=28.42 million in 2016 and 2015 and P=26.05 million in 2014.

e. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a related party, for a lease of
bottling equipment in 108 Progressive Avenue Carmelrey Industrial Park, Brgy. Canlubang,
Calamba, Laguna.  The lease shall be for four (4) years commencing from February 1, 2014 to
January 31, 2018, renewable by mutual consent.  Rent expense amounted to P=19.33 million in
2016 and 2015 and P=17.72 million in 2014.

f. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Zest-O, a related party, for a lease of
bottling equipment in 108 Progressive Avenue Carmelray Industrial Park, Brgy. Canlubang,
Calamba, Laguna.  The lease shall be for two (2) years commencing from February 1, 2014 to
January 31, 2016, renewable by mutual consent.  In 2017, it was further extended until 2020.
Rent expense amounted to P=0.91 million, P=10.92 million and P=10.01 million in 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively.

 Others

a. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with Asiawide, a related party, for a lease
of a piece of land and building located at Km. 27 Sitio Puting Bato, Inarawan, Antipolo City.
The lease shall be for three (3) years commencing from February 1, 2014 to January 31, 2017,
renewable by mutual consent.  In 2017, it was further extended until 2020.  Rent expense
amounted to P=16.76 million in 2016 and 2015 and P=15.36 million in 2014.

b. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with SMI Development Corporation, a
related party, for a lease of a piece of land at Km. 27 Sitio Puting Bato, Inarawan, Antipolo
City.  The lease shall be for three (3) years commencing from February 1, 2014 to
January 31, 2017, renewable by mutual consent.  In 2017, it was further extended until 2020.
Rent expense amounted to P=6.66 million in 2016 and 2015 and P=6.11 million in 2014.

c. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreement with FLB Industries, for a lease of piece of
land located in Mandaue City, Cebu.  The lease shall be for five (5) years commencing from
January 16, 2015 to January 15, 2020, renewable by mutual consent.  Rent expense amounted
to P=6.14 million and P=5.88 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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d. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreements with Eduardo A. Gutierrez for a lease of
piece of land located in Brgy. Magdalo, Kawit, Cavite.  The lease shall be for three (3) years
commencing from February 15, 2016 to February 14, 2019, renewable by mutual consent.
Rent expense amounted to P=1.58 million in 2016.

e. ARC Refreshments entered into a lease agreements with R. Florente Pawnshop & Jewelry,
Inc., for a lease of office space located in Iloilo City.  The lease shall be for one (1) year
commencing from May 16, 2016 to May 15, 2017, renewable by mutual consent.  Rent
expense amounted to P=0.08 million in 2016.

Future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2016 2015
Within one year P=67,072,149 P=304,741,808
After one year but not more than five years 18,785,604 36,689,892

20. Retirement Benefits Liability

The Group has a funded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially all
of its regular employees.  The defined retirement benefit obligation is determined using the
projected unit credit method.  There was no plan termination, curtailment or settlement for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

The net retirement benefits costs recognized in the statements of comprehensive income for the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2016 2015 2014
Service cost P=16,225,651 P=32,805,444 P=29,057,014
Net interest cost 4,564,898 4,018,159 2,957,953
Retirement benefits costs P=20,790,549 P=36,823,603 P=32,014,967

Retirement benefits liability recognized in the statements of financial position as of
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2016 2015
Present value of defined benefit

obligation
P=117,252,702 P=205,359,730

Fair value of plan assets (115,200,949) (112,038,569)
Balance at end of year P=2,051,753 P=93,321,161

The present value of defined benefit retirement obligation as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014 are as follow:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=205,359,730 P=167,549,022
Service cost 16,225,651 32,805,444
Interest cost 10,045,377 7,514,909
Benefits paid (441,504) (298,304)

(Forward)
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2016 2015
Remeasurement losses (gains) arising from:

Experience adjustments (P=96,146,223) (P=2,211,341)
Changes in financial assumptions (17,790,329) –

Balance at end of year P=117,252,702 P=205,359,730

The Group expects to make no contributions to its defined retirement benefit plan in 2017.

The changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2016 2015
Balance at beginning of year P=112,038,569 P=77,961,954
Interest income 5,480,480 3,496,750
Benefits paid (441,504) (298,304)
Contributions 10,859 33,048,963
Actuarial gain (loss) from experience adjustments (1,887,455) (2,170,794)
Balance at end of year P=115,200,949 P=112,038,569

The assets of the Plan are being held by a trustee bank.  The investing decisions of the Plan are
made by certain officers of ARC RC duly authorized by the BOD.

The net plan assets available for benefits are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
Cash and cash equivalents P=51,882,125 P=51,882,125
Shor-term investments 9,545,527 9,545,527
Long-term investments 53,773,296 53,773,296

P=115,200,948 P=115,200,948

The Plan’s assets and investments consist of the following:
∂ Cash and cash equivalents, which includes regular savings and time deposits.
∂ Short-term investments which includes time deposits and special deposit accounts with a

maturity of more than three months but not more than one year from date of acquisition.
∂ Long-term investments which is primarily composed of government securities and some

corporate bonds.

The principal assumptions used to determine the accrued retirement fund as of December 31 are as
follows:

2016 2015
Discount rate 5.38% 4.89%
Future salary increases 5% 8%
Expected average future service years of

employees 26 26.01
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The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each
significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2016, assuming all
other assumptions were held constant:

Increase
2016 (Decrease) Amount
Discount rate +1% (P=20,358,000)

-1% 25,619,000
Future salary increase rate +1% 24,653,000

-1% (20,054,000)

The average duration of the accrued retirement fund at the end of the reporting date is 26 years.

Shown below is the maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments:

More than 1 year to 5 years P=14,152,000
More than 5 years to 10 years 12,232,000

21. Income Taxes

The current provision for income tax in 2016, 2015 and 2014 represents the regular corporate
income tax.

The components of the Group’s net deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2016 and
2015 are as follow:

2016 2015
Deferred tax assets

Retirement benefits liability P=22,896,534 P=16,662,627
Unamortized past service costs 1,031,254 1,215,304
Allowance for inventory obsolescence
 and condemnation 947,258 677,774
Straight-line adjustment on rent 682,340 3,763,465
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 636,308 –
Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 327,430 369,993

26,521,124 22,689,163
Deferred tax liability on unrealized foreign

exchange loss – (51,876)
26,521,124 22,637,287

Deferred tax asset (liability) on retirement benefits
liability recognized directly in equity (22,281,008) 11,333,721

Net deferred tax asset P=4,240,116 P=33,971,008

The Group has assessed that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available in future
periods to allow the deferred tax assets to be realized.

As at December 31, 2016, the Group has NOLCO that can be claimed as deductions against future
taxable income amounting to P=17.78 million which will expire in 2017.
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 The following are the movements in NOLCO:

2016 2015 2014
Balances at beginning of year P=272,085,501 P=274,106,625 P=5,264,900
Application (153,262,006) (2,021,124) 17,704,431
Expiration (101,037,179) − −
Balances at end of year P=17,786,316 P=272,085,501 P=22,969,331

The reconciliation of provision for income tax computed based on the statutory income tax rate to
the provision for income tax in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is as
follows:

2016 2015 2014
Income tax at statutory tax rate P=760,241,012 P=776,900,445 P=738,112,856
Reductions in income tax

resulting from:
Nondeductible expenses 1,575,007 6,709,603 8,165,208
Changes in previously
 unrecognized deferred
 income taxes (42,401,540) (606,337) 5,311,329
Interest income already
 subjected to final tax (3,694,279) (2,287,040) (10,825,148)
Nontaxable income (147,563) (563,876) (2,127,165)
Movement in deferred tax
 from net asset acquisition − − (32,687,391)

P=715,572,637 P=780,152,795 P=705,949,689

22. Financial Risk Management and Capital Management

The main purpose of the Group’s dealings in financial instruments is to fund its operations,
capital expenditures and financing activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency risk.

The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework.  The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and
manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits and controls
and to monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control, identify and manage the
Group’s exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits and controls and to
monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies.  Risk management policies
and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s
activities.

Management addresses the risks faced by the Group in the preparation of its annual operating
budget.  Mitigating strategies and procedures are also devised to address the risks that inevitably
occur so as not to affect the Group’s operations and forecasted results.  The Group, through its
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
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Credit Risk and Quality
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations.  The Group’s credit risk exposure arises principally from the
possibility that the counterparties may fail to fulfill their agreed obligations.  To manage such
risk, the Group monitors its receivables on an ongoing basis.  The objective is to reduce the risk
of loss through default of counterparties.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses
in respect of receivables.  The main components of this allowance are specific loss component
that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for
groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified.  The
collective allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar
financial assets.

With respect to credit risk arising from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, receivables, short-term investment and security deposits the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arises from a possible default of the counterparties with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

The tables below show the credit quality by class of financial assets.

2016
Neither Past Due Nor impaired Past Due But

Not ImpairedHigh Grade Standard Grade Impaired Total
Cash and cash equivalents* P=1,752,123,347 P=– P=– P=– P=1,752,123,347
Trade and other receivables – P=414,048,132 – 1,091,432 415,139,564
Short-term investment** 17,000,000 – – – 17,000,000
Security deposits*** 350,349,197 – – – 350,349,197
Total credit risk exposure P=2,119,472,544 P=414,048,132 P=– P=1,091,432 P=2,534,612,108
*Excluding cash on hand amounting to P=131.27 million.
**Under “Other current assets”
***Under “Other non-current assets”

2015
Neither Past Due Nor impaired Past Due But Not

ImpairedHigh Grade Standard Grade Impaired Total
Cash and cash equivalents* P=934,077,766 P=– P=– P=– P=934,077,766
Trade and other receivables – 370,397,142 – 1,233,310 371,630,452
Security deposits** 350,349,197 – – – 350,349,197
Total credit risk exposure P=1,284,426,963 P=370,397,142 P=– P=1,233,310 P=1,656,057,415
*Excluding cash on hand amounting to P=119.10 million.
**Under “Other non-current assets”

The Group has assessed the credit quality of the following financial assets:

1. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment are assessed as high grade since these
are deposited with reputable banks.

2. Trade and other receivables, which pertain mainly to receivables from related parties, officers
and employees and others, were assessed as standard grade since there were no history of
default on the outstanding receivables as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.  These were
assessed based on past collection experience and the debtors’ ability to pay the receivables.

3. Security deposits are considered as high grade since these are deposits made with reputable
counterparties.
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Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due.  The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility.  Treasury controls and procedures are in place to ensure that sufficient
cash is maintained to cover daily operational and working capital requirements.  Management
closely monitors the Group’s future and contingent obligations and sets up required cash
reserves as necessary in accordance with internal policies.

The table below shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated
interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

2016
Due and

Demandable
Within 6
Months

6 to 12
Months Over 1 year Total

Trade and other payables* P=2,225,221,305 P=– P=– P=– P=2,225,221,305
Short-term loans payable – 125,783,025 – – 125,783,025
Dividends payable 24,770,828 – – – 24,770,828

P=2,249,992,133 P=125,783,025 P=– P=– P=2,375,775,158
*Excluding statutory payables amounting to P=76.90 million

2015
Due and

Demandable
Within 6
Months

6 to 12
Months Over 1 year Total

Trade and other payables* P=2,533,174,470 P=– P=– P=– P=2,533,174,470
Short-term loans payable – 497,439,728 – – 497,439,728
Dividends payable 22,192,003 – – – 22,192,003

P=2,555,366,473 P=497,439,728 P=– P=– P=3,052,806,201
*Excluding statutory payables amounting to P=48.61 million

The Group has financial assets of P=2,665.88 million and P=1,775.16 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, that may be used to settle its financial liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from changes in foreign exchange
rates.  The Group uses the Peso (P=) as its functional currency and is therefore exposed to foreign
exchange movements, primarily on the US Dollar ($).  The Group follows a policy to manage this
risk by closely monitoring its cash flow position and by providing forecast on its exposures in
non-peso currency.

The balances of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
translated in Philippine peso, as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:

2016
Original

Currency Translated
Original

Currency Translated
in $ in P= in € in P=

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $3,272,506 P=162,708,998 €581 P=30,119

Financial liabilities:
 Trade and other payables (2,234,892) (111,118,830) – –

Net exposure $1,037,614 P=51,590,168 €581 P=30,119
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2015
Original

Currency Translated
Original

Currency Translated
in $ in P= in € in P=

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $307,926 P=14,490,998 €74,502 P=3,854,733

Financial liabilities:
 Trade and other payables (80,001,417) (3,764,866,684) – –

Net exposure ($79,693,491) (P=3,750,375,686) €74,502 P=3,854,733

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the exchange rate of the Philippine peso to the USD is
P=49.72 and P=47.06, respectively, while the exchange rate for EUR as of December 31, 2016 and
2015 is P=51.84 and P=51.74, respectively.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in P= to $ and
P= to Euro (€) exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income before
income tax.  There is no other impact on the Group’s equity other than those affecting the statement
of comprehensive income.

Change in exchange rate
$ strengthens by 5% $ weakens by 5% € strengthens by 5% € weakens by 5%

Increase (decrease) in income before
 income tax and equity
2016 P=2,579,508 (P=2,579,508) P=1,508 (P=1,508)
2015 (P=187,518,784) P=187,518,784 P=192,741 (P=192,741)

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the amount at which the financial instruments could be exchanged in a
current transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other
than in a forced liquidation or sale.  Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate.

The following financial assets and liabilities have carrying values that approximate their fair values
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Cash and cash equivalents, Trade and other receivables, Short-term investments, Trade and other
  payables, Short-term loans payable and Dividends Payable
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, short-term
investments, trade and other payables, short-term loans payable and dividends payable approximate
their fair values due to the short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Security deposits
These are presented at cost since the timing and amounts of future cash flows related to the
refundable deposits are linked to the termination of the contract which cannot be reasonably and
reliably estimated.

Similarly, the carrying amounts of these instruments which are all subject to normal trade terms,
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Capital Management
The Group maintains a capital base to cover risks inherent in the business.  The primary objective
of the Group’s capital management is to increase the value of shareholders’ investment.  The Group
sets strategies with the objective of establishing a versatile and resourceful financial management
and capital structure upon commencement of its operations.
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The BOD has overall responsibility for monitoring of capital in proportion to risk.  Profiles for
capital ratios are set in the light of changes in the Group’s external environment and the risks
underlying the Group’s business operations and industry.  No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

The following table summarizes what the Group considers as its total capital as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015:

2016 2015
Capital stock P=1,068,393,223 P=1,068,393,223
Additional paid-in capital 1,153,568,289 1,153,568,289
Retained earnings 3,315,543,539 1,849,549,228

P=5,537,505,051 P=4,071,510,740

23. Note to Consolidated Statement of Cash flows

Operating Activity
∂ Creditable withholding taxes under “Other current assets” amounting to P=9.68 million were

applied against income tax payable in 2016.

24. Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share

 Basic and dilutive EPS is computed as follows:

2016 2015 2013
Net income P=1,818,564,071 P=1,809,193,657 P=1,754,426,497
Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding 1,068,393,223 1,068,393,223 1,068,393,223
Basic and diluted EPS P=1.70 P=1.69 P=1.64

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, there are no potential ordinary shares that have a dilutive
effect on the basic EPS of the Parent Company.

25. Segment Information

The Group is organized into only one operating division, manufacturing and trading of beverages,
which is its primary activity.  The Group operates in nine geographical areas namely Antipolo,
Kaybiga, Canlubang, Pangasinan, Pampanga, Isabela, Cebu, Davao and Cagayan De Oro, where it
derives its revenues.  For management purposes, the Group considers the entire business as one
segment.  Management monitors the operating results of the business for purposes of  making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.
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Net sales, net income, total assets and total liabilities of the beverage company as at and for the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, are as follows:

2016 2015 2014
Net sales - external customers P=11,378,313,250 P=11,262,933,328 P=10,352,147,129
Net income 1,660,398,460 1,783,685,604 1,729,168,057
Total assets 7,919,345,565 7,240,923,025 6,858,253,354
Total liabilities 2,614,589,956 3,326,801,736 3,139,707,226

 Reconciliation of net income:

2016 2015 2014
Segment net income P=1,660,398,460 P=1,783,685,604 P=1,729,168,057

General and administrative 163,721,401 19,862,327 28,889,014
Others - net – 9,872,450 (9,736,528)
Share in net income of joint
 venture 491,875 1,471,937 233,633
Interest income 856,277 764,985 24,879,005
Foreign exchange gain - net 101,179 166,304 14,361
Provision for income tax (7,005,121) (6,157,265) (12,267,948)
Interest expense – (472,685) (6,753,097)
Tolling revenues – – (184,649,991)
Cost of sales and services – – 184,649,991

Group net income P=1,818,564,071 P=1,809,193,657 P=1,754,426,497

 Reconciliation of assets and liabilities:

2016 2015
Segment assets P=7,919,345,565 P=7,240,923,025

Cash and cash equivalents 388,943,145 102,874,934
Interest in a joint venture 42,111,039 41,619,164
Other current assets 38,388,728 14,351,544
Property, plant and equipment 1,833,373 1,076,464
Trade and other receivables 747,215 65,529
Short-term investments – –
Deferred income tax assets - net – –

Group assets P=8,391,369,065 P=7,405,910,660

Segment liabilities P=2,614,589,956 P=3,326,801,735
Dividends payable 12,769,248 22,192,003
Stock acquisition payable – 17,000,000
Income tax payable – –
Trade and other payables (49,846,785) (5,148,470)

Group liabilities P=2,577,512,419 P=3,360,845,268
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26. Subsequent Events

1. On February 9, 2017, ARC Refreshments was authorized to appropriate P=2.67 billion to be
taken from its retained earnings for the following purposes:

a. P=1.01 billion is alloted for the declaration of cash dividend for stockholders of record as of
December 31, 2016 at P2.30 per share which shall be issued in proportion to the
shareholdings of individual stockholders and to be released on or before March 15, 2017.

b. P=0.56 billion is allotted for the declaration of stock dividend for stockholders of record as
of December 31, 2016 which shall be issued in proportion to the shareholdings of
individual stockholders and to be released on or before March 15, 2017; and

c. P=1.10 billion is allotted for the proposed expansion project of the Project of the
Corporation to commence on March 2017.

2. On February 2017, ARC Refreshments renewed and extended its existing lease of land and
building with Zest-O, Mega Asia, SMI and Asiawide for three (3) years starting from
February 1, 2017 to January 31, 2020.


